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Monday, March 28, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, everyone.  Before we start, I would like to ask Ms. Lillian Ing to give the OEB's land acknowledgement.  Are we still in?

Land Acknowledgement:


MS. ING:  Good morning.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.


We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.   Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Ing.  We will resume with the first day of the oral hearing for the Enbridge Gas multi-year DSM.


First, before we start, are there any preliminary matters that we have to deal with?  Seeing none, I wonder if I can call on Mr. O'Leary to introduce his witnesses and to have them sworn in.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  I thought I should first also once reintroduce who at the company is assisting me, and that is Asha Patel, who is the case manager with regulatory affairs.  Then the person that's going to be assisting us all throughout the course of this proceeding is our expert screen sharer, Bonnie Adams.


If I might also first indicate a note of thanks.  For unavoidable scheduling reasons we had to make an adjustment to our originally scheduled panels, and thus our first panel today, Mr. Janigan, is going to be dealing strictly with low-income, Indigenous, and large-volume issues only.  So I wanted to thank both Mr. Wasylyk and Mr. Murray for juggling the schedule to accommodate us and also all of the parties that have juggled their cross-examinations so we could fit it in.


We will still have a panel number 1, which we have five members.  Two will deal with those issues and the other are there in a support capacity in case this crosses over into framework and evaluation matters and industrial.


And let me then introduce the panel, if I may.


Let me reintroduce once again Mr. Craig Fernandes.  I would point him out on the dais, but I am not sure where he appears on your screen, but he is on my left side.  He's got his hand up.  There you go.  Mr. Fernandes has been an employee of Enbridge for 17 years and currently is the DSM group as manager of energy conservation, policy, and strategy.  In this role, Mr. Fernandes is responsible for overseeing that the current proposed DSM framework and its plan is responsive to government policy, goals, and objectives, that the DSM plan is aligned with company objectives, and that the future DSM framework plans are responsive to evolving government policies, market changes, and company objectives.


Also on our panel is Mr. Daniel Johnson, who now appears on the left as well.  Mr. Johnson has been an employee for 16 years and currently is the DSM group as manager of audit, evaluation, and tracking and reporting.  In this role Daniel is responsible for overseeing all annual DSM performance audits, program evaluation, and all tracking and reporting with respect to DSM results and financials.


If I may next introduce Mr. Grochmal, who is on our -- on my right.  Mr. Grochmal has been an employee for 14 years and currently is in the DSM group as manager of program design and technical services.  In this role, Mr. Grochmal is responsible for the management of the current commercial and industrial programs, as well as the design of the proposed commercial and industrial programs.  He also oversees the company's research and innovation efforts.  In addition, Mr. Grochmal is responsible for the proposed design of the new low-carbon transition program.


Next we have Ms. Sarah Van der Paelt up in my top left.  Ms. Van Der Paelt has been an employee of Enbridge for 31 years and is currently the director of marketing and energy conservation.  In this role, Ms. Van Der Paelt is responsible for managing and overseeing the energy conservation department, which includes the budget portfolio policies and programs.  She will be speaking today as the witness for the low-income and Indigenous programs.


Then finally I have Mr. Ariyalingam, who is up now on my top right, and Mr. Ariyalingam has been an employee of the company for nine years, is currently the manager of strategic and power markets.  As part of this role Mr. Ariyalingam is responsible for managing and overseeing the delivery of the large-volume program.  In this capacity he ensures the program meets the needs of large-volume customers and helps them maintain engagement and focus on energy efficiency.


Mr. Janigan, the panel is now available to be sworn in or affirmed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Commissioner Moran will be doing that swearing in.


MR. MORAN: Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1

Craig Fernandes,

Daniel Johnson,

Tom Grochmal,

Sutha Ariyalingam,

Sarah Van der Paelt,

Allison Moore,

Jim Dunstan; Affirmed.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you very much.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  If I could then turn to Mr. Fernandes and ask you on behalf of the panel a couple of questions.


The first is, can you confirm that the pre-filed evidence that has been filed in this proceeding, the interrogatory responses on the evidence, and the company's reply evidence, the answers to the technical conference, and the undertakings given at the technical conference, and the evidence given on the presentation day, was this all prepared by you and your panellists to the extent of their involvement, or at you or their direction?


MR. FERNANDES:  I can confirm that, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Do you adopt all of the aforesaid evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  I have some very short, Mr. Janigan, examination in-chief, if I may be at liberty to proceed?  I think you are on mute, sir.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.  Oh, well --


MR. O'LEARY:  We're all going to do it.


[Laughter]


MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine, Mr. O'Leary, but if you could keep it short it would be appreciated.  We have all read the materials.

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  I think you will see why I am asking.


So if I could turn first to Ms. Van Der Paelt.  In the presentation day session, Commissioner Janigan asked at page 173 of the transcripts of the Anwaatin presenters about whether there was a centralized Indigenous group that could be consulted with to help determine support and to receive feedback.


Can you tell me how Enbridge has been handling this?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  I thought it would be beneficial for everyone to get a perspective of how we're organized at Enbridge specifically with respect to Indigenous affairs.


So Enbridge Inc. has a centralized department, community and Indigenous engagement, which is established directly to work with our Indigenous communities, organizations, and groups, and so that centralized function, which supports all of Enbridge, part of their roles and responsibilities currently engage with approximately 50 Indigenous communities in Ontario.


And this is a combination of communities that are served by the distribution system.  So about 20 communities, those who are prospective communities.  So think of the community expansion file, or those that may be impacted by assets owned and operated by Enbridge, such as pipelines or stations.


So as identified in the presentation day, we do not have a centralized Indigenous body in Ontario with which we can engage in on our programming.  However, we've been reaching out to the individual Indigenous communities and groups in partnership with this community and Indigenous engagement team.


So this team helps our efforts.  They provide guidance by providing opportunities for direct engagement with Indigenous groups throughout Ontario, who are either served by natural gas or where our assets are located.  We also work in tandem with them to have opportunities to share information on programming, and we talk about how we can leverage DSM in these conversations.


They have also begun starting with the quarter of -- the first quarter of 2022 distributing a newsletter to inform all communities of projects and programming, and energy conservation will be one of the subject matters in those newsletters.


So it would be 18 communities -- sorry, of the 20 communities that have natural gas, 14 have residential hook-ups and in addition to our internal departments, we also rely on our Indigenous delivery agents to share knowledge around what is occurring in each of those locations.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Van Der Paelt.  One little supplementary question.  That is:  How does the company believe that it is fostering economic development within the Indigenous communities?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I am going to speak to that specifically with the energy conservation file.


We employ an Indigenous delivery agent, FNESL, who is an on-reserve owned and operated Indigenous business to deliver all of our programs to on-reserve communities.


We also hire a community project lead from each of the communities proper to into assist in the delivery of the programs on-reserve, and this community lead would be accountable for launching an event, helping customers apply for programming and supporting them through the process.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  I have just one further question, and that is to Mr. Fernandes, and it also follows a question asked by yourself, Commissioner Janigan.


At the presentation day at page 41 of the transcript, you referenced the mandate letter that stressed the need to foster integration and alignment between natural gas and electricity conservation programs.


The OEB Staff consultant, Optimal Energy, also stated at page 36 of its second report that overall, the largest issue that rises from comparing Enbridge Gas's efficiency programs to other gas utilities is the lack of integration with electric efficiency.


And on presentation day, the consultant for Pollution Probe stated that the OEB needs to drive more collaboration.


I see that the company filed on Friday a table which perhaps Bonnie could pull up and we could mark it as an exhibit.


But with the assistance of that table, Mr. Fernandes, can you advise us of the extent to which the company is undertaking collaboration?


And may I, just before you begin, could I ask that we mark this as an exhibit?


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  ENBRIDGE DOCUMENT DESCRIBED AS SUMMARY OF COLLABORATIVE EFFORTS


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Mr. Fernandes?


MR. FERNANDES:  So thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Ms. Adams, yes, you have it in the right spot there.


So the first table summarizes the collaborative efforts that Enbridge Gas is currently involved with, and it shows the IESO CDM program in the left column and then correspondingly showing the Enbridge Gas current efforts in our collaborative efforts.


I believe I mentioned previously that the company is in frequent discussions with the IESO and this table demonstrates that quite clearly.


We have collaborative programming in low income.  We have aligned on a moderate income tier and have enhanced incentives here.  We have coordinated on both -- coordinated delivery on both the direct install and midstream program offerings, and are currently in discussions on an energy performance program offering.


We have collaborated on Indigenous programming and are in discussions to expand that once new IESO programming is finalized, and we are also jointly funding training in the commercial sector.


So the company's efforts fit with the direction we have received, which is to foster integration and alignment between DSM and CDM where feasible.


This is also why, in the latest OEB mandate letter, the Minister stated -- and I am quoting from that letter:

"I am pleased to see continued collaboration between the IESO, CDM and DSM programs in the low-income space and encourage further collaboration as appropriate."


So Enbridge Gas has acted upon the direction and will continue to do so.


Finally, at the bottom of the table is the collaborative effort with NRCan which we noted already that the company can't work with IESO, as they do not have residential programming at this point in time.  So we're working with NRCan under the same basic principles.


And finally, the specific recommendation from Optimal Energy was to develop a plan on how and when coordinated delivery with IESO would happen, and I would suggest that Enbridge Gas has already done this.


MR. O'LEARY:  At the bottom of the Exhibit K1.1, there is reference to a number of municipalities.  If you could also speak to those, Mr. Fernandes.


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  I think Mr. Brophy suggested that there was no formal consultation or stakeholder engagement conducted by the company, and I don't agree with that.


It's hard to understand how one would portray the company's efforts in this way.  The OEB had a stakeholder consultation process that started in early 2019.  Mr. Brophy directly participated.


The stakeholder consultation was concluded in December of 2020, based on the direction in the DSM letter, as we have already noted.


The company was directed to file an application within five months and as clearly noted in the pre filed evidence at Exhibit E, tab 4, schedule 6, and a number of other areas, the company performed additional stakeholder engagement that was reasonable prior to filing.


The evidence also notes that engagement with other customers is normal course of business, but I don't want to, you know, repeat the evidence at length.


The second table in the collaboration summary lists the many municipalities Enbridge Gas has engaged with in their community energy planning efforts, with many more planned in the future.


The company already has relationships with all of the municipalities in the areas that it serves, and we should note that formal engagement is not always needed nor is it necessarily optimal.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  That is the examination-in-chief, Mr. Janigan.  The panel is now open for cross-examination.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  Before that begins, are there any parties here that did not enter an appearance on presentation day that may wish to enter an appearance at this juncture?

APPEARANCES:


MR. POLLOCK:  Yes, Commissioner Janigan, that is Scott Pollock for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Mr. Janigan, Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  I don't believe we entered an appearance on Thursday.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Janigan, this is Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of FRPO.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, it is Michael Buonaguro, counsel for Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, it is Randy Aiken on behalf of London Property Management Association.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Aiken.


MS. SEERS:  Good morning.  Miriam Seers and Sebastián Melo on behalf of Small Business Utility Alliance.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Seers.


MS. SEERS:  Thank you.


MR. JACKIW:  Good morning.  Raeya Jackiw, counsel for Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, very much Ms. Jackiw.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan on behalf of Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Girvan.


MS. PARRY:  Myfanwy Parry, Housing Services Corp.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Parry.


MS. VALLANI:  Madi Vallani on behalf of Low-Income Energy Network.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Vallani.  Are there any further appearances?  Thanks again.


My fellow panel members have reminded me to remind all witness panels that we are trying to keep the number of acronyms that we use in the context of the testimony or cross-examination at a minimum.  So please repeat the entire phrase rather than use the acronym, if possible.  So thank you very much.


I believe the first party to cross-examine this morning will be IGUA.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Commissioner Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  And I thought, sir, I would just wait and put in my appearance now rather than flipping off and on, so it is Ian Mondrow, counsel for, as you noted, sir, the Industrial Gas Users Association.  The acronym for that is IGUA, for the record.  And I may revert to that.


[Laughter]


MR. MONDROW:  So right off the bat I am in a deficit position, so I apologize for that.  I will do my best.


MR. JANIGAN:  I should have said the entire name as well, so thanks.


[Laughter]


MR. MONDROW:  It is a proper name, so we're okay --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  -- in any event, and Commissioners Zlahtic and Moran, good morning to you as well.  I think this is my first appearance, as it were, before you, unfortunately under these remote circumstances, but it is a pleasure to see you again, and I mean that regardless of how you decide the matter.  So I just thought I would acknowledge that and send you my greetings.


And with that, sir, I will get right into it, because I know we have a very long schedule.  I am just going to mark down the time.  I have 50 minutes allotted and I will do my best to bring you up to eleven o'clock or two minutes after that if I need.


Mr. Ariyalingam, I think most of my questions will be for you.  I am just going to see if I can adjust the view here.  It's already adjusted so I can see you, but hopefully we will -- as you speak we will be able to see each other.


I feel a bit like a tail wagging the dog here because my questions are all going to be related to large-volume customers.  Sometimes the acronym LDC is used, but I am going to try to stick to large-volume customers.  Thank you, whoever brought Mr. Ariyalingam to the screen.  I appreciate that.  It makes it easier for me.


This of course is just a small corner of a much larger topic before the hearing panel this morning, but that is where I am going to focus to start.  So I will go into this case from that side.


Mr. Ariyalingam, these are customers served -- first of all let me start with this.  These large-volume customers are, as they're referred to in your materials, are different from what you refer to in your materials as industrial or even large industrial customers in the C&I context.  We're talking about the very largest customers, and that's different from C&I industrial; is that correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Good morning, Commissioners.  As Mr. Mondrow mentioned, my name is Sutha Ariyalingam.  I'm manager of strategic and power markets.  Yes, so these are the largest customers, and to be more specific, to be eligible for the large-volume program the customers should be in rate T2 in the Union zone and rate 100 in the Union north rate zone.  And there is a specific contract demand requirement to be eligible for these rates.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I will come to that.  But when you say industrial in your filing in the C&I context, that is not -- those aren't the customers we're talking about here, correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yeah.  When we say industrial in this context, Mr. Mondrow, we are referring to steel, automotive, pulp and paper, and then petrochemical manufacturers, refineries, and also large power generators.


MR. MONDROW:  And mining companies?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, that would be as well.


MR. MONDROW:  And plastics?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Any other?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Those are the majority of the customer groups.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And there is also -- I believe you still have a legacy Enbridge Gas rate 100, and those are very different customers from the Union north rate 100 customers.  Correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  They are totally different in the legacy Enbridge rate zone.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  And you have given the kind of volumetric minimum daily demands -- or, sorry, the minimum volumes or minimum daily demands to qualify either under Union north rate 100 or your T2 -- your T2 rate class.


And in respect of an order of magnitude, the customers that we're talking about, the large-volume customers, consume many hundreds of millions -- several hundred million cubic metres a year, as an order of magnitude.  That's the size we're talking about, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.  Obviously for these customers who consume up to several hundred million cubic metres a year, natural gas costs are a very significant input cost for their businesses.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, I do.


MR. MONDROW:  And can you give the hearing panel a sense of the annual delivered gas costs incurred by these types of customers?  Just an order of magnitude so we can orient ourselves.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yeah.  So this is -- in this market I would say the gas costs could be -- I'm talking more on the distribution side -- more than -- it could even range more than $1 million.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I said "gas costs" on purpose.  I am not just talking about distribution.  I am just talking about delivered gas costs.  Do you have a sense of that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yeah.  So depending on the customers, so that could range in several million dollars.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, I think it is well north of $100 million a year, isn't it?  I mean, these are very large customers that spend several dozens of millions, hundreds of millions of dollars on gas every year; is that fair?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Depending on the customer, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, we're talking about these large-volume customers, and I realize they're all over the map, but they're all in that range.  Like, hundreds of millions of dollars a year.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  And there are no equivalent customers, in terms of volumes or demand -- contract demand levels in legacy Enbridge Gas, I believe; is that right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  We do have some power generators.


MR. MONDROW:  And what rate do they take service under?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  They are under rate 125.


MR. MONDROW:  Rate 125.  Okay.  I am going to leave, as I am going to make clear in a minute, hopefully I'm going to leave the gas-fired generators to my colleague Mr. McGillivray, I believe, who is going to be up right after me, I think.  So I am just going to talk about the non-gas-fired generators generally, but let's just orient on a few more numbers, if I could with you.


Mr. -- Commissioner Janigan, I should have -- Mr. Chair, I was going to say, I should have gotten an exhibit number for the IGUA compendium, and I do -- thank you, Mr. O'Leary, for your acknowledgement on the schedule change.  At 2:00 p.m. on Saturday we got an e-mail about the schedule change, which moved me up a day.  So we did provide promptly -- we got this compendium in yesterday at noon, so a little bit late, but nonetheless we got it to Mr. Ariyalingam and his colleagues.  If I could get an exhibit number for that, please, Mr. Chair.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  IGUA COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.


MR. MONDROW:  1.2.  Thank you, Mr. Murray.


And Mr. Ariyalingam, I assume that you were given access to this compendium sometime yesterday?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.  I haven't spent a lot of time, but, yes, I did receive it yesterday.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  I am not going to ask you chapter and verse on page 16, so it's okay, but I will take you to where I need to take you, but I appreciate that.


So let's start with the first document.  The pages are numbered at the top here, so I am looking at page numbered 1 at the top.  And that is a response to an APPrO interrogatory in this proceeding.  And it is Exhibit I10.E, which is the issue number, EGI response to APPrO number 1, and if we could go to page 2 of the compendium, you see table 1 there.


And Mr. Ariyalingam, if I am reading this table correctly, just looking at the T2, which is one of the two rate classes we're talking about, T2 south rate class, I am looking at the forecast column, just for clarity, although they're all the same in this case.  And I see a forecast of 25 customers in the first row and then gas-fired generation customers in the second row, 8.


So am I correct that the 25 is the total number of T2 south customers forecast, of which eight of them are forecast to be gas-fired generators?  Is that how you read this table?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Similarly for rate 100 north, a total of 13 forecast customers in that rate class, of which one is forecast to be a gas-fired generator.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And so if we remove the gas-fired generators, if I did my math correctly -- and please don't assume that, because that is not my strong suit -- but we are left with 29 individual large industrial customers who are not gas-fired generators.  Can you accept that subject to check?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  If I do the math -- so we have a total nine gas-fired generators.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  And 37 customers are in the program.  So if I take that -- take nine off, it is 28.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  We will go with you.  Your math is no doubt better than mine, without a doubt.  So 28; that's fine.  Not a huge number of customers, large volumes, big dollars, but not a huge number of customers in the grand scheme of things is the point.  I take it you would agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's talk about DSM objectives, and obviously I am continuing to talk about those in the context of these 28 large volume customers.


Like for all of your customers, your primary DSM program is to assist these customers in making their operations more efficient in order to help them manage their energy bills.


I take it you would agree with that motherhood statement?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So a large volume customer DSM program that increased those customers' energy bills would be contrary to this objective.  I assume you would agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I don't necessarily agree with that, depending on the customer and what -- how we assist them with the energy efficiency program and how they value our program.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I am not sure I understand that.  You agreed with me that the prime objective is to help customers manage their energy bills, and I am suggesting that if customers are hampered in managing their energy bills through your program that would be contrary to that objective.  There may be other objectives, but contrary to that objective.  You have to agree with that.  I think that is a --


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you're referring to other objectives, I think, which could justify a program in that instance.  Could you elaborate on what would justify a program in the event that the primary objective is breached?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  So a couple of other things to meet overall objective of the province, that's one of the other objectives.  If I can take you to our evidence, Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 6.  So there are a couple of points -- Ms. Adams, if you could just scroll down a little bit.


On page 2 -- sorry, page 4 here.  So we have provided other objectives that is consistent with -- sorry, the program is consistent with the objectives, as you can see this is also -- this is also playing a role in meeting Ontario greenhouse gas reduction roles.


MR. MONDROW:  Let's talk about that actually.  Can you describe for the hearing panel how these 28 large volume industrial customers are carbon regulated, GHG regulated?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  So depending on the industry, they can -- they are subject to either federal carbon pricing programs or emission performance standards.  And also depending on the industry, there may be other regulations as well.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And those are completely outside of your DSM program, aren't they?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  So how does your program exactly add to that?  How do you help them when they're already legally obligated to comply with these standards?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  This program has, if you can see the results, continue to deliver cost effective results in the past years, and so this is where our technical account managers can add value.


They are -- they provide industry perspective to our customers, share best practices and support project adoption.


They have dedicated coverage with these customers to identify, track, quantify and implement energy efficiency projects, and our customers continue to see value from this program.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, we will talk about that a little more.  But you actually didn't answer my question, with respect, sir.


I asked, given all of these carbon and GHG emission compliance requirements that you told us about, what does your program add in respect of motivating these customers to control their emissions?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Our customers see the value in the input from our technical account managers panel, so from the incentive that they receive.  They value that as well.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  We will talk about those incentives as well, because I think you get those from them and then you give some of it back.  But we will get to that in a minute.


So I gather, sir, though what you are telling me is you don't actually add to their GHG or emission reduction goals or requirements, but you think you help them realize those maybe; is that what you are telling me?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  No.  Our program aligns with their goals.  Like even when we engage our customers, they agree that our program aligns with their emission reduction targets, emission reduction goals.  So this actually helps them achieve some of their goals.


MR. MONDROW:  But even without your program, they have to meet the goals, but the program assists them in doing so.  Is that a fair characterization of your view?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I am not sure if I would agree with that, Mr. Mondrow.  Again it all depends on the customer, too.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, are you saying that your program increases their reductions relative to what they would otherwise be required to reduce?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  No.  It helps them to meet their reduction goals.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, that's what I thought.  Maybe I wasn't clear.  That's fine, we're on the same page in that respect.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  Let me ask you quickly about the 15 percent -- I think it is called a non-energy benefits adder.  You're proposing to continue that, I believe?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  This is -- this is best directed to Mr. Johnson.


MR. JOHNSON:  I can answer that, yes, we are.  That's correct, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Johnson.


And can you confirm initially when that adder was directed by the OEB, it included the value to society of GHG reductions and other what were called non-energy benefits of what a resource costs, right.


MR. JOHNSON:  I would say yes, included in environmental benefits.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  GHG reduction and other non-energy benefits?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  I don't remember the specific wording.  I can try to pull it up, but that sounds reasonable.


MR. MONDROW:  That's fine for now.  I appreciate the offer.


Now, the GHG reductions are accounted for in the legislative cost of carbon now, so built into your avoided forecast gas costs.


MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so now the 15 percent adder is intended to capture other things, not GHG, not the value of the GHG reduction, fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if we look at the IGUA compendium, Exhibit K1.2, I believe it is, at page numbered 4 at the top -- thank you, Ms. Adams -- we see there the definition in your glossary in your evidence of non-energy benefits.  And if we look at the second sentence, it uses an acronym for non-energy benefits:

"NEBs can include but are not limited to impacts such as improved safety, improved health, and job creation.  For example, offering participants may benefit from increased property value and improved health and comfort."


Mr. Johnson or Mr. Ariyalingam, can you tell me which of those non-energy benefits apply in the case of the large volume customers that we have been talking about?  I don't quite get the benefit that they're seeing from that list.


MR. JOHNSON:  So I can answer at a high level, and Mr. Ariyalingam can perhaps add some details specific to the large volume customer group.


Again that is not intended to be a comprehensive list.  It is, you know, there's many non-energy benefits for industrial customers, it could be that a project also improves productivity as an example.  Again, it wasn't intended to also account for environmental benefits of which greenhouse gasses are not the only environmental benefit.  So the list is intended to be much larger.  This was just a few examples.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So we've got improved productivity, other environmental benefits.  Mr. Ariyalingam, anything else?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Those are the things.  Those are the items I can think of.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you both.  Let me then go to page 5 of the compendium, please, and this is an excerpt from your large-volume program evidence.


Actually, I would like to, Ms. Adams, go to page 6, because I am looking at paragraph 18.  And Mr. Ariyalingam, if I just can read that with you, paragraph 18, it says:

"To compel customers to participate in the offering and pursue cost-effective energy conservation opportunities, Enbridge Gas uses a direct access funding model.  The direct access budget mechanism grants each customer access to the forecasted incentive budget they pay in rates."


And then if I can go back to paragraph 13, which is on the previous page, second sentence says:

"The direct access approach compels these customers to work with Enbridge Gas technical account managers to execute on identified energy efficiency opportunities and access their portion of available incentives and services."


And Mr. Ariyalingam, my question is, if these industrial large-volume customers value your DSM programming, why do you have to compel them to participate?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Maybe it is a choice of words here, Mr. Mondrow.  It sufficiently motivates them to participate in the program.  They have certainty on how much funding they have access to, to implement energy savings of energy efficiency projects, and that sufficiently motivates them to do it.


MR. MONDROW:  So let's talk about that then.  As I understand it, the program is essentially that these customers pay you 100,000, 150,000 a year, give or take in rates, and the direct access DSM program allows them to claim their own money back to spend on energy efficiency measures that you approve.  Is that how the program works?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And if they don't get approval from you for their proposed energy efficiency spending they lose the money.  You refer to that in the evidence as kind of the use it or lose it nature of the funding model.  Is that correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  So I would add, though, you know, they would work with our technical account managers to develop an energy efficiency plan from the beginning of the year.  So both parties know what they're going to implement.  And the energy efficiency plan serves as a road map to implement those projects.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so if they stick to the plan, they get their money back, and if they don't, they don't get their money back.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And actually, even if they do get their money back, if they do get your approval for their energy efficiency plan, they don't get it all back.  About 28 cents on the dollar goes to administration of the program.  Right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Of course, they also have to use their own internal resources to engage with your energy management consultants and demonstrate what they're doing and why they should get their money back, so there are additional costs to them as well.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Depends.  This is where I think like our technical account managers can add value.  So, you know, these large-volume customers have other competing priorities.


So they can shift the resources accordingly, and that's where our technical account managers can work with them very closely and help them in different ways to achieve that target as well.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  But when your technical account managers work with them very closely, they -- that is, these customers -- have people that are working with your technical account managers very closely, and there is a cost to that, right?  They pay for those people.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that was my point.  In addition to the 28 cents on the dollar that they don't get back, they incur some level of internal cost to engage in your program.  You would agree with that, I assume.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Again, I would go back to what I mentioned earlier, the value our technical account managers add to these customers.  Again, they come from the industry directly.  They're very skilled at identifying energy efficiency projects, sharing industry best practices.  So there is that value-added feature in that.


MR. MONDROW:  Am I correct that you have two dedicated technical account managers for this group of customers?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And when you say they come from the industry, clearly they don't come from each of the 29 or 28 industries that these customers are active in?  What industry are you referring to?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I think it would be refineries, it could be petrochemical, it could be steel.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  But not all of them, obviously.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And we have been talking about the money they get back from you that they pay in rates and they get back if they create a plan and you approve the plan and they follow the plan.  But of course that money covers only a portion of their efficiency investment.  The rest is their own investment, right?  Outside of the plan?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And in fact, most of the investment in the efficiency initiatives would be outside of the plan.  100- to $150,000 a year isn't going to cover a lot of the efficiency.  It is a motivator, but it doesn't really cover the cost, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.  But, you know, when 

they -- before they pay the payback calculation there is definitely a revenue stream, and that still helps.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, and we will talk about that a little bit too, so that's great.


And so your view, I gather, is that all of this is justified on the basis that without this compulsion or incentive from Enbridge Gas, these customers who spend, we agreed, well north of $100 million a year on delivered natural gas would not be motivated to use that gas efficiently.  That is the premise of your program, as I understand.  Is that right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So because you let them get 100,000 or 150,000 dollars back, they're motivated to cut that hundreds of millions of dollars by some amount, whatever is economical.  Is that the idea?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.  And I will go back to what we heard from our customers too, and again, several customers value the program that way.


MR. MONDROW:  Hmm-hmm.  And if that premise is 

wrong -- that is, if they do the efficiency anyway -- you would actually be increasing their energy costs, wouldn't you?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Could you repeat that question, Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  If the premise is wrong, if they didn't need the $100,000 back to motivate them to save money on natural gas, taking it and giving them some of it back and getting them to work with you on it and maybe adjusting their plans to get their money back, that would all increase their energy costs rather than decreasing their energy costs, if your premise is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Mondrow, I think what was stated was that the expertise and the process provided actually saves some time and effort.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  Well, we will talk about that too, Mr. Fernandes, but I did understand the statement, thank you.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  And am I correct, Mr. Ariyalingam, that in order to qualify to get their money back they need to provide you with evidence of projects, energy efficiency projects, undertaken in Ontario; that is, these are all multi-jurisdictional companies -- we will talk about that in a few minutes -- but if they do energy efficiency outside of Ontario, that doesn't qualify for your program, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And Mr. Ariyalingam, I don't think it is controversial that the programs have traditionally indicated a very high free-ridership level, something like 50 percent or more, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Definitely there is a higher free ridership rate.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, and so that means that if, let's say 50 percent, if 50 percent is the right number -- it may be, it may not be -- but if it is, that would mean that half the energy efficiency that you are getting under this program at least would have been done without your intervention.  Right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.  Even -- again, I would like to add, even with the high free ridership, the energy savings we achieved from this program is very high.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  Well, I know that is what the calculations show, but the debate is always whether that is reflective, right?  I am not going to get into that with you right now, but I understand that is your position.


So let's spend a few minutes looking at some of these customers that we're talking about in a little more detail. If you could go, Ms. Adams, please, to page 11 of Exhibit K1.2, the IGUA compendium, and this is a public document.  It is on the website, published by Glencore.  It is called "Pathway to net zero 2021 progress report".


And Mr. Ariyalingam, you are familiar with Glencore Canada Corporation, I assume, one of your T2 customers?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I am not sure if I can disclose their contractual agreements here, but they are definitely one of our customers.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  They're a mining company?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  They are a mining company.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And would you agree that Glencore has a strong focus on sustainability in general, and energy efficiency in particular?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If we look at page 12 of the compendium, this is the group's CEO's introduction, and I just want to read with you a couple of passages here to make the point -- which we will be arguing, of course.  And I highlighted those just to make it a bit easier for you in your quick review.


And so if we look at this passage:  

"As a result of further work done on understanding our emissions profile and the opportunities to deliver reductions, we revised our medium-term emissions reduction target and introduced a new short-term target.  We are committed to reducing our total emissions (scopes 1, 2 and 3) by 15 percent by 2026 and 50 percent by 2035, both on 2019 levels.  Post-2035, our ambition is to achieve net zero total emissions by 2050, with a supportive policy environment."


Mr. Ariyalingam, that is a very strong corporate -- expressed corporate target for emission reductions.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Agreed.


MR. MONDROW:  And that is nothing to do with your DSM program.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  It does not.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I don't want to spend too much time on this, but I do want to take you to -- I am having trouble seeing the page numbers myself.  I am not used to working on small screens, I suppose.


If I could take you to page 14 of the compendium, please, this has a section on risks and opportunities in carbon pricing, and then a section on risks and opportunities in energy costs.


If we look at the energy cost part of the page, I am looking at the second paragraph, it says:  

"We consider energy costs in our carbon footprint in our annual business planning process.  Commodity departments are required to provide energy and GHG emissions forecasts for each asset over the forward planning period and provide details of mitigation projects that may reduce such emissions, including identifying and developing renewable energy generation opportunities."


So Glencore already has embedded in its annual planning process energy cost reduction and GHG reduction mechanisms and aspirations.  Right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And again, that has nothing to do with your DSM program, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  As much as I don't disagree with you, Mr. Mondrow, so again as I mentioned before, our program allows these customers to focus on these higher priorities and our technical account managers can support in different ways where they can achieve some energy reduction targets.


So it enables them to shift resources where they have high priorities and leverage our technical account managers to achieve -- help achieve their targets as well.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if we just look at page 15 of the compendium, this illustrates what's called a marginal adjustment cost curve.  Are you familiar with that cost construct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I have some second-hand knowledge of that.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, would you agree with me a marginal abatement cost curve like this, like we see here is a pretty well developed tool for assessing cost effective, in this case, energy cost abatement and remission reduction opportunity.  Is that what that represents?  Do you know?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I don't know.


MR. MONDROW:  You don't know.  Okay.  You're directly engaged with these large volume customers, right, Mr. Ariyalingam, on a regular basis?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And you are not familiar with how they use marginal abatement cost curves in assessing investments?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Not to give you an educated view for the questions that you ask, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  All I asked is it is a pretty powerful tool that they use to find the next most cost effective investment, and you are not comfortable enough to opine on that, I gather?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.  If we go to page 17 of the compendium, you'll see a text box that says "Building a Mine for the Future".


That is Glencore Canada's Onaping depth mine.  Are you familiar with that project?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if we look at the second column, they talk about, about halfway down -- hopefully you will see this -- the elimination of diesel emissions, reduced ventilation and lower noise pollution.


And then continuing on in the paragraph, it says:  

"We expect the Onaping depth to reduce its emissions by 7500 tons of CO2 equivalent per year, a reduction of around 45 percent compared to a similar mine with diesel powered vehicles."  


So this is talking about electric vehicles.


Then it says:  

"This is achieved mainly from less ventilation and, as a consequence, less energy for heating during the winter."


So you can see there is a focus not only on air quality, but energy use reduction at Onaping depth, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  You don't offer any DSM programs for that project, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  If I can be specific, this one would not be part of the large volume program, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, great.  Thanks.  All right.  If we can go to page 19 of the compendium -- I hope my time, I think I am okay for a little bit -- this is a climate action report of July 2021 from a company -- I am always -- never know how to pronounce this.  Maybe you can help me, Mr. Ariyalingam, actually I pronounce it ArcelorMittal Dofasco.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  ArcelorMittal Dofasco.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that was my question.  We know them as Dofasco in Ontario and this is the company that now owns Dofasco, correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  That much you know about them more than I do.  So thanks for that pronunciation.  I am not going to ask you what customer class they fall into, but they make steel, is that correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  You are familiar no doubt with the recent funding developments that will allow ArcelorMittal to proceed with a 1.8 billion -- that is with a "B" -- investment in a low carbon steel plant in Hamilton.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  ArcelorMittal is planning to invest $1.875 billion.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That is a lot of money compared to 150,000 a year in DSM funding, but that was a parenthetical.  Sorry, you don't have to acknowledge that.  But you would agree with me that that reflects -- that investment reflects a pretty serious commitment to decarbonization?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Are you familiar with ArcelorMittal's climate action report, excerpts from which I put before you?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, I have some knowledge of that.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  If you look with me at page 21 of the compendium, this is page 2 of the report, and you see reflected some notables, including carbon reduction goals.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And there is a reference here to $10 million of total -- under the funding heading:  

"Ten billion total investment required to achieve 2030 group decarbonization targets."


Again a huge amount of money being invested by the company in decarbonization, GHG reduction, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And if you go with me -- I gave you quite a big edge there, because I didn't want to be accused of cutting anything out.  


But if you go with me to page 30 of my compendium, which is section 2, decarbonization strategy of this report, you see a chart on the right-hand side and you see a line for Canada in particular and it is under a heading "ArcelorMittal decarbonization plans", and it says at the top above that chart: 

"Will accelerate in each jurisdiction as the necessary policy conditions are in place."


And you see in Canada for the period from 2021 right through to 2035, which is their decarbonization target period, they will be accelerating efforts in Canada.  Do you see that in the chart?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So they already have a fair commitment, a fair sized commitment to decarbonization of their operations in Canada.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And that would presumably include the Dofasco steel mill in Ontario; would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If you flip over with me to page 32 of the compendium, you can see a pretty well-developed, I would suggest, net zero roadmap.  You see the diagram.  And if you look with me towards the right middle of the diagram you should see a column labelled B -- or on the graph labelled B at the top, it says "Energy Transformation".  Do you see that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So energy transformation is one of their corporate focuses, it seems to me.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And finally, if you -- finally, on this report, if you turn to page 33 of the compendium, which is page 14 of the report, you see a heading under the net zero roadmap topic called "technology pathways", and I am just going to read that first paragraph for you.

"As we have explained in previous climate action reports, we have identified two viable decarbonization technology pathways for steel, innovative DRI..."


Do you know what DRI stands for, by any chance, Mr. Ariyalingam?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  Direct redesign technology.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

"...and smart carbon, and a third pathway, direct electrolysis, which is promising but not yet mature."


And then I should have highlighted for you the last paragraph in this white field on the page, which I am going to take you to:

"We are also cautiously optimistic about a third potential technology pathway, direct electrolysis of iron, which is currently in the research and development phase and showing good potential in our Siderwin project."


And it refers to another section of the report.


And so to me this reflects an internal corporate culture of technological innovation.  Would you agree that this company is focused on technological innovation in their operations?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the ensuing pages actually go into tremendous amount of detail on that.  I am not going to take you to each of those.


But I wonder, Mr. Ariyalingam, if you could explain in the context of what we have just seen about ArcelorMittal what your program is able to bring to them, to the direct access program, that its global experts don't already have in respect of efficient and carbon-mitigated steel production.  What do you add to that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I would say a couple of things.  I will go back to what I mentioned earlier.


So they have these ambitious goals, high-priority items.  So again, from our program, what they can do, they can shift their focus on the high-priority items where our technical account managers add value in some of the low-hanging fruit, and again, they will share best practices, provide some industry perspective, and provide dedicated coverage to identify, track, quantify energy efficiency projects.  They will be able to leverage their knowledge and expertise.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you go with me to page 46 of the compendium, please.  This is page 27 of the report.  I understand that ArcelorMittal has a Canadian mining subsidiary.  Are you familiar with that subsidiary, Mr. Ariyalingam?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  They are not part of -- or they are not in our rate zones.


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, okay.  So you are not familiar with that company.  That's fine.


If you look with me under section 2.3.3.  I have highlighted that for you:

"ArcelorMittal Mining Canada continues to study and trial zero-carbon emissions iron-ore pellet production.  AMMC" -- their acronym, Mr. Chair, not mine -- "has undertaken trials to reduce its CO2-equivalent emissions associated with bunker fuel and solid fuels at the pellet plant through liquified fuel substitutions.  It is working with the global R&D team and ArcelorMittal's experts to develop pellets with the objective of becoming the first zero carbon-emissions pellet supplier for the ArcelorMittal Group."


So two things I take from that paragraph, Mr. Ariyalingam.  One is, they have pretty sophisticated internal experts.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And the second is, there seems to be some internal competition for capital in the group.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if we go to page 49 of the compendium, just to zero in on this competition for capital point.  Still under decarbonization strategy, costs, investments, and funding is the heading, 2.4, and if you look at the last paragraph on the page with me, which I have highlighted:

"In terms of our investment decision-making, each major cap ex project proposal is required to demonstrate its CO2-equivalent impact to the investment allocation committee."


Their acronym is IAC:

"The IAC considers both the potential future carbon cost as well as the capital cost of decarbonization to maximize our chances of achieving our targets while ensuring each project is economically justifiable and earns its cost of capital."


So Mr. Ariyalingam, that indicates to me quite a well-developed internal discipline for capital allocation within the group.  Would you agree with that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And perhaps the use of capital compelled by your "use it or lose it" funding model doesn't quite fit with the highest and best use of capital for ArcelorMittal, and if that is the case I guess the company just has to lose it, as you put it in your filing, if they just can't justify internally spending money in Ontario at the moment.  They just lose their money.  Right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, in fact, that money then ends up funding efficiency investments by other large-volume customers, because you have this bucket into which it falls, and other Ontario large-volume customers can access money not utilized by ArcelorMittal in the scenario I painted, right?  So that money funds energy efficiency for someone else in Ontario.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yeah.  I would add though, you know, they can also participate in some of their maintenance type activities too.  So we are -- one of the items that we are proposing, we are expanding the eligibility measures for maintenance activities.  So they can also participate in that if they do have anything.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And if they were going to do that maintenance anyway, you are not actually driving that performance, and if they weren't, maybe there was a reason for that.  Maybe the capital is better used somewhere else.


But in that case they don't use their money and someone else ends up using their money, right?  It is just a net cost to them.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  In that rate class.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, okay.


I am just checking the time.  I think I have time.


I want to take you quickly to one more example, because to us these are important.  So if you look at page 50 of the compendium.  Ineos Styrolution -- easier for me to pronounce.  You are familiar with this company, Mr. Ariyalingam, another one of your customers?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And what do they make?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Plastics.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And they call that what?  Do you know?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Styrene.


MR. MONDROW:  Styrene?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  [Audio dropout] yes, that's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Pretty close.  Styrene is one version, but it's packaging, building parts, parts for products, those things.  You're familiar with their sustainability report?  This is the 2020 version?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, I have some knowledge of that.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if you look at me -- look with me, sorry.  You can look at me too -- look with me -- page 11 of the report is page 51 of our compendium -- they have a heading, "improving energy efficiency".  Do you see that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, I do.


MR. MONDROW:  "Styrenics products are lightweight, durable and weather-resistant, making them a longer-lasting and energy-efficient alternative to other materials.  We are incrementally improving our operations by efficiently using raw materials and optimizing of our production processes.  In addition, we invest in technology upgrades at our manufacturing sites and implement energy reduction projects as part of our operational excellence programs.  We are also in discussions with a technology provider to reduce the footprint of our supplier's steam crackers and further optimise our distillation plants by 2025."


Would you agree with me, Mr. Ariyalingam, that these passages like with the other companies reflect the high internal corporate awareness of efficiency, innovation, and GHG reduction?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Just on the topic of energy efficiency, if you turn with me to page 52 of the compendium you will see this is the part of the report that talks about reducing our environmental footprints.


And the next page, page 53 of the compendium, has again the "energy efficiency" heading, under which it says:

"Energy usage is integral to our resource efficiency efforts and is a key driver for all capital expenditure projects."


A key driver for all capital expenditure projects.

"Since the establishment of our company in 2011, we have completed a number of energy reduction projects and every year, our Capex programme includes numerous initiatives to improve energy efficiency.  We have implemented energy management systems to measure, monitor, internally report, and evaluate the use of energy."


And that, Mr. Ariyalingam, has nothing to do with your DSM program.  Right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So these are examples.  I don't have time to go through more materials like this for your other large volume industrial customers, but I would expect to see similar corporate emphasis with each and every one of those 28 very large customers on energy efficiency, carbon reduction, optimization of capital employment to achieve the best most cost effective results overall across their group.


Mr. Ariyalingam, are there customers among this group of 28 that don't fit that pattern, that are much more dependent on you for these corporate objectives?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  So this is where I would go back and add to our customer engagement.  So when we engage our customers regarding our proposed plan, they welcome our proposed plans.


Some customers actually request to increase the incentive budget and others welcome that we expand our eligibility measures.


So they are -- I can say, you know, several of them largely depend on our program and also the expertise from our technical account managers.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  I looked at your evidence on consultation and it doesn't surprise me at all that customers would say please expand the types of incentives available.  That would just give them more freedom to do what they want to do for efficiency, right.  The more on the menu, the more freedom they have.  Who wouldn't agree to that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Sorry, can you repeat that, Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  You make a point of saying that customers welcome the expansion of your program and that doesn't surprise me, given they're trying to get their money back and the more optionality you give them the greater the chance of getting their money back, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, it is again the customers in the program are given equal opportunities.  So they can use the funding through the direct access model and then the customers who doesn't utilize those fundings, then the funding will flow through the act-pull model.  So any other customers in that class will be able to use that money.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  I have about five minutes left, so I want to move to a different topic.  Thank you for your help with those customer reports.


If you can go to page 55 of the compendium, in this interrogatory which is Exhibit I, 10 E, EGI.Staff.59 for the record, Staff asked you about the decidedly mixed customer feedback you were just talking about that with me -- although you didn't talk about the mixed part, you talked about the positive part.  But you will agree it was decidedly mixed, that is what your evidence says.


Staff asked you about implementing a large volume customer opt out option for customers already focussed on energy cost and efficiency, like the ones I already talked to you about, if they could demonstrate that to you.  I would like to look at your response.


You answered parts A and B together, and I take the first part of your response to be that that would be a very resource intensive exercise, that is implementing an opt out, because your existing billing system isn't designed for it and system changes would be expensive.


Am I understanding that first part of the response right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Mr. Fernandes, why couldn't you simply remove the DSM charges from the bills of those 28 customers?


MR. FERNANDES:  So you are effectively suggesting that we don't have a direct access large volume program at all?


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  Opt out.  That is what the Board Staff asked you about and you said, well, we can't because we have to change our billing system.  And that puzzles me and I am asking why you couldn't simply back-out those charges from those 28 bills.


MR. FERNANDES:  Sorry.  So our interpretation of "opt-out" was very different from what you are suggesting.


So suggesting we don't have a program at all so there is no option, versus allowing each and every one of those customers to either choose to use the program or not choose to use the program, it's the optionality that would make it rather difficult to plan and execute on.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.  So let's stick to the opt out, the optionality, as you put it.  Let's say ten customers wanted to opt out.  Why couldn't you just back the charges out of those ten bills by way of a credit?


MR. FERNANDES:  It could be done for a small rate class like this with the type of manual effort, but it is quite a bit more complicated than you are necessarily suggesting.


So number one, just from a pure planning and execution, there is the timing aspects of when customers would have to opt out or opt-in and rules around changing from one status or the other in order for us to simply just budget.


I think Mr. Grochmal would be able to jump in about how the program works, but it kind of requires to know what your budget is and distribute that at the beginning of a period so customers are aware and there is certain timing elements with respect to it.


Then on the back end, Mr. Johnson can probably chime in on how the clearance proceeding would go, because there is a true-up mechanism for actual.


So having customers moving in and out while these other things are going on would create a lot of complication from an administrative point of view and explaining what is happening, and potentially some inter-customer inequities depending on if someone accessed the program and then chose to leave.  So there would have to be some sort of framework or rules around in or out.


So it's not quite as simple as it could be portrayed.


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Fernandes, for the opt-out based pricing system for carbon, you allow customers to opt in, or opt out of the Enbridge Gas facilities carbon charges, right?  It is not a dissimilar situation.  You seem to be able to manage that somehow.


Why would a DSM opt-out be different from that?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe those are collections of funds to be submitted to the government, but I have to admit I am not quite familiar with that aspect of it.  It's not -- I don't believe anyone on the panel is actually either.


MR. MONDROW:  What does it matter whether you are collecting the money to submit to the government or collecting the money to put into your self-direct plan?  It is the collection of the money that is complicated, isn't it?  Or that's your concern?


MR. FERNANDES:  It's the timing of knowing what that amount would be and being able to effectively run the timing of the program.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you could implement it operationally, but there are certain logistics, timing and reconciliations that cause the complication?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  Just, you know, I think the basic premise of the program is at the beginning of the year each of the customers within those contract rate classes are advised what the budgeted amount for incentives that is available are.


So that simple item requires you to know what amount are you working with and how that gets distributed.  If customers are coming and leaving, that number would necessarily change.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I am out of time and I shouldn't run over by too far.  But let me ask you one more question and this is probably for you, Mr. Fernandes.


If you were directed by the Board to remove your large volume customer self-direct access program altogether from your DSM plan, what impact would that have on the overall plan?  What would you have to change?


MR. FERNANDES:  So can I clarify, because I am assuming that you're effectively stating remove the direct access program so the costs associated including the overhead amounts, but not the low-income amounts allocated to these rate classes, which is a separate and distinct item.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  So in terms of looking at it from that perspective, the large volume direct access program drives quite a bit of -- well, number one, we have one scorecard dedicated to it, as I think you are aware.  So that would obviously come off and no longer be relevant.


It's small in the general scheme of things with respect to the annual scorecards.  So there would have to be something said about what the allocated incentive there would happen with it.  But the bigger impact would probably be on the annual net benefits mechanism that is proposed, because the largest-volume customers actually make up a fairly substantial amount of the annual net benefits.  So presumably there would be some form of target adjustment there, if that is no longer an opportunity for the company.


But other than that, I don't think there is too much crossover, given this is -- as you stated, it is a very limited customer set, and it doesn't really impact the rest of the portfolio, but it would drive the overall portfolio TRC down, I am not sure how significantly, but I am assuming it is quite a bit, given you've noted how much gas these customers use, and the savings on the projects are pretty noteworthy as well.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  If I can --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, the -- go ahead, Mr. Ariyalingam.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  And if I can add one other piece from customer feedback.  As I mentioned, several customers rely on this program to maintain focus on energy efficiency, and that would put them at a very disadvantaged position.


And also, in terms of opt-out, there was quite a bit of discussion last -- in the last proceeding, in 2016 to 2020 DSM plan, and Board found evidence that the large-volume customers did not undertake all cost-effective projects on their own.  And also, there is expert evidence in other jurisdictions that customers were provided that opportunity.  They didn't demonstrate that they were doing that either.


And from my reading from the expert evidence this time around, it also states that direct access program is more desirable.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, Mr. Ariyalingam, one of the things that you said is customers have said to you, please keep the programs, because we want to keep our focus on energy efficiency.  Is that what you said?  One of the things you said?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  With their assistance, correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  So that puzzles me, because if they're asking you to keep the programs because they want to keep their focus on energy efficiency, aren't they already focussed on energy efficiency, by definition?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Well, to me -- well, there are a couple of other things that they rely on as, you know, again incentive, and also the input from technical account managers.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, well, the incentive is getting their money back, and we talked about your technical account managers.  So thank you.  I appreciate your answers, both of you gentlemen.  And Mr. Chair, I will stop there.  And apologies to you.  I realized in the last five minutes that when I did my math I surprisingly did it wrong and I thought I had until 11:00.  That's why I'm a bit over.  So I will -- I have a few more questions, but I will stop there.  My time is up.  I appreciate your indulgence.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Mondrow.  I think we will take our morning break now and come back at ten minutes after 11:00.  Thanks.

--- Recess taken at 10:54 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  We will resume.  I believe next up is APPrO.  Mr. McGillivray?

Cross-Examination by Mr. McGillivray:


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  Good morning.  My name is Jonathan McGillivray, and I am counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, or APPrO.


We have a compendium for APPrO and I would like to have that marked as an exhibit, if I may.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  APPRO COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  There were three areas that I would like to cover with you today in a relatively short amount of time.  The first is on the key objectives of DSM as you laid them out in your application.  The second is on DSM programs as they apply to large volume customers and gas-fired generators in particular.  And the third is in relation to the broader arena of incentives that are applicable to gas-fired generators.


So I would like to begin with the objectives and guiding principles of DSM.  If we can go to page 7 of our compendium in tab 1, thank you.  I think it is paragraphs 10 and 11 as well.


This is Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 6 from your application.  You would agree that the primary objective of DSM is assisting customers in making their homes and businesses more efficient and to help better manage energy costs.  Yes?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  You would also agree a important secondary objective is to help lower natural gas usage and meet Ontario's greenhouse gas reduction goals, is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Play a role in the latter, correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And on guiding principles over on to the top of page 8, I think, you would agree that DSM for large volume customers should include strategies to increase natural gas savings by targeting key segments of the market, or -- and I emphasize here customers with significant room for energy improvements.  Is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's applicable across the entire portfolio.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And so it would -- it applies across the portfolio, and that would include the large volume program?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  The larger users can tend to have larger opportunities because they consume more gas.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I would now like to spend a bit of time on the costs of the DSM program for large volume customers, and we asked an interrogatory on this.


If you can go to page 14, which is at tab 2 of our compendium, we asked by way of interrogatory for you to calculate the rate impacts to the T2 -- rate T2 and rate 100 DSM unit rates for 2023 when gas-fired generator billing units are excluded from the derivation of the DSM unit rate.


Do you see that in your response to part A?


MR. FERNANDES:  We do.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And specifically, you would agree that that table 1 here shows that -- forgive me as I go through the lines here -- for rate 2, the monthly demand charge on a cents per cubic metre basis for the first roughly 141,000 cubic metres of gas increases by 30 percent if gas-fired generators are excluded from the DSM unit rates.  Am I reading that correctly?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe so, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then also for rate T2, the monthly demand charge for additional consumption beyond that roughly 141,000 cubic metres increases by 92 percent, if gas-fired generators are excluded?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's what the table shows, correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And the interruptible commodity charge is not affected, so it stays the same.  Is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then in rate 100, the delivery demand charge increases by 16 percent, if gas-fired generators are excluded.  And the delivery commodity charge increases by 14 percent, if gas-fired generators are excluded from the DSM unit rates.  Is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, that's what the response says,  noting that these are increases in the DSM unit rate, not the total rate for the customer or total bill.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Right.  Well understood.  As a follow up to something you said to Mr. Mondrow not too long ago, could we expect that a similar picture would apply to rate 125, which I understand includes gas-fired generators in legacy Enbridge?  Or is there a different analysis that would apply for that rate class?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  So currently the rate 125 is not part of the large volume program.  It is only T2 and T2 in the Union south rate zone and rate 100 in the Union north rate zone.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  If we can go down to -- I think it is part B of this interrogatory response.  Enbridge has noted that if the OEB were to consider exempting gas-fired generators from any obligation to contribute to the DSM costs allocated to these two rate classes, the large volume customer -- which are the large volume customer rate classes, you have noted that it would be necessary to implement presumably procedural changes to your billing system and potentially downstream system and process.


Do you see that?


MR. FERNANDES:  We do.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And am I right that by that you mean modifications to which customers are charged?


MR. FERNANDES:  As part of the discussion previously, if we have a subset of customers that aren't intended to be billed how the system currently bills, it would necessitate changes and that's a little bit different from the optionality that Mr. Mondrow was speaking about.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  So it would also include modifications to, for example, which customers are tracked in the DSM management system?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  We would have to do a number of items for both the purposes of billing and collecting, but also how we budget and perform the program today.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And that might include how any remaining charge is allocated?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  Presumably if a group of -- you know, it's a small group of customers as has been noted.  If some of them are pulled out of program, I don't know that that would necessarily be an isolation of other changes such as the budgetary allowance to that.


So it's -- it's difficult to hypothesize without knowing the full picture.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  Would I be correct that these are procedural changes that Enbridge is accustomed to making as part of being a regulated utility?


MR. FERNANDES:  We do make changes, in terms of rate classes and billing systems from time to time.  But they come with the administrative costs of doing that.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Let's go through the considerations that you set out in the list here.  The first one is how to separate DSM charges from distribution rates as currently DSM charges are embedded in distribution rates.


Would you agree that that change is procedural more than it is substantive in nature, if it needed to be made?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  It's procedural in nature, but it would still have administration associated with it.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And the second one is how to uniquely identify GHG or gas-fired generator customers in the billing system and, once identified, how to exclude those customers from DSM charges.


You already identified gas-fired generator customers, correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Well, we have, I believe for the purposes of this proceeding, have them broken out as shown previously.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  Fair enough.  So it sounds to me like they're already uniquely identified?


MR. FERNANDES:  They can be, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then the third bullet is how to charge DSM charges to all non-gas-fired generator customers.  You would agree that as a regulated utility, you might have to make a change like this on a semi-regular basis?


MR. FERNANDES:  We don't have someone who is from the cost allocation and rate design group here, because we didn't have a lot of questions of this nature.  So I will do my best, but, you know, that is embedded in how we have to set up all of our processes and systems.


So if -- you know, how we do that cost allocation to the rate classes needs to align with the financial systems and the billing systems that supports, you know, operating as a company.  So all they're saying is that this -- you know, we need to know what it is before we can say whether or not we can do it.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And that sort of goes to the next bullet, I think, the DSM charges -- consideration as to whether the DSM charges would need to be mapped to a separate GL account in the EFS, the enterprise financial systems.  That is sort of a matter of billing or accounting?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And finally, the rate schedules would need to be adjusted to include two sets of unit rates for customers in the same rate class.


My understanding is that rate schedules get adjusted on a fairly regular basis.  Is that fair?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe we do at least some of them as part of the Q -- sorry, quarterly rate adjustment mechanism, or QRAM.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Yes.


MR. FERNANDES:  And, you know, so I would expect that that is the case, but I think the point here is that none of these things -- you know, increasing complexity increases administrative costs throughout all of those processes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you have called them administrative costs.  So these changes are administrative in nature?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yeah.  They're not part of the program directly.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  Thank you.  I would now like to spend some time on the cost incentives beyond DSM that are applicable to gas-fired generations, and I will just start at a general level and then we can get into the compendium.


Would you agree at a high level that there are policies beyond DSM that apply costs and incentives to gas-fired generators?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And for example, these policies might be targeted at reducing natural gas usage?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Or they might be targeted, or maybe it is an and/or:  They might be targeted at decreasingly associated greenhouse gas emissions?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you are aware that gas-fired generators are already subject to regulated carbon pricing, either at the provincial or federal level, and pay an emissions performance fee on gas consumed for electricity generation?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Some element of the charges, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you are aware that gas-fired generators may also be subject to charges in and through a proposed border carbon adjustment?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you are aware that there are proposed net zero by 2035 obligations, and to the extent that those apply to the electricity sector and electricity generators, those would also apply to gas-fired generators?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  I gather from the compendium that was sent on Saturday.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And would you agree this is a stack or a pancaking of applicable policies?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  As much as I don't disagree, Mr. McGillivray, we engaged our customers, especially large-volume gas-fired generators, prior to the application.  Six out of nine gas-fired generators were engaged, and they were all supportive of what we are proposing here.


In fact, if I could ask Ms. Adams to bring up the support letter that one of the customers who owns two facilities here -- it is APPrO 3, attachment 1, issue 10.E.


So even stronger support -- what we're offering, we are expanding the eligibility measures for maintenance type of activities.  And they are very excited about it.  They are welcoming those changes.  And they provide even stronger support.  This is directly from the APPrO members that we engaged.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I appreciate that.  And I am aware of the letter on the record, and thank you for directing me to it.  I am hoping we can go through just a few final policies in some specific detail that we included in the compendium just to get your confirmation on their applicability to gas-fired generators.


For example, in tab 4 of our compendium at page 19, we have included the methodology under Ontario's emission performance standards for calculating the associated performance standard for electricity generation.


Do you see that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you would agree that the Ontario EPS applies to electricity generation from natural gas?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And would you agree that the performance standard for fossil fuel-fired electricity generation is 370 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per gigawatt hour?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And under this Ontario system there is also similar performance standards for thermal energy and co-generation; is that fair?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then at tab 5 of our compendium at pages 23 and 24, we have just included the first couple of pages from the preamble in section 1 of the federal regulations limiting carbon dioxide emissions from natural gas-fired generation of electricity.  Do you see that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And would you agree that these regulations also apply to gas-fired electricity generation?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then finally, or I think this might be my second-to-last, at page 40 of our compendium you would agree that the federal government has announced that it intends to take additional steps to reduce emissions from the electricity sector through a Clean Energy Standard?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  In the future, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  In the future.  They're consulting on it now.


And on page 40 here, the fifth paragraph, the discussion in the paper indicates that the scope and design of the clean electricity standard will need to be stringent enough to achieve its objectives while including compliance, flexibility to allow for the possibility of some natural gas.


Do you see that?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And one related point here.  Would you agree that gas-fired generators play a role in facilitating electrification?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And they may be a necessary generation source on margin, for example, at peak summer and winter times, and that may feed into reaching Canada's and Ontario's emissions reduction targets and obligations?  Is that fair?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then finally -- I think this is in tab 6 of the compendium -- the Ontario Ministry of Energy has asked the Independent Electricity System Operator to assess options for the establishment and ongoing operation for a variety of systems to support a clean energy credit system within Ontario.  Is that right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And in addition, at tab 7, which is -- I can tell you the page number -- page 28 of our compendium, the IESO has published a draft Engagement Plan on clean energy credits, and part of the feedback collected as part of that engagement the IESO says is expected to help inform the evaluation of a potential moratorium on the procurement of new natural gas generating stations, and that is at page 29, I think one more page down, in the first paragraph under the five bullets.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Would you agree at a general level that there are policies beyond DSM that apply costs and incentives to gas-fired generators?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I do.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And then one final area that I would like to go to, and this is back at tab 1 of our compendium, page 6.  Enbridge has made two changes to the large-volume program, as I understand it.  Do I have that right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes.  Two proposed changes, reduction to the budget, and also expanding the eligibility measures, so that specifically will help gas-fired generators when it comes to maintenance-type of activities, and that is what they're all excited about.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And that is also -- I think paragraph 8(ii), which is the one you were just referring to, is also referenced at paragraph 26, which is on page 11.


And is this the -- are these the additional or the changes to the eligibility requirements that you are referring to?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Would you agree that neither of the changes that Enbridge has made to the large volume program address the duplication of costs and incentives that apply to gas-fired generators from the stacked carbon regulations that apply?


MR. ARYALINGAM:  Based on what we heard from customers, they think that it will add value when it comes to, again, removing the eligibility measures when it comes to maintenance type activities and they see a real value in it.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. McGillivray, can you clarify that question?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Sure, yes.  I think my question 

is -- we spent some time going through various emissions-oriented policies that apply to gas-fired generators and I am just asking, and I think it is relatively simple, whether or not either of the changes to the large volume program that are outlined at paragraphs 8 and 26 respond, or are responsive to the multiplicity of emissions-oriented policies that already apply to gas-fired generators.


MR. FERNANDES:  So just from the context of about what, you know, this application is about, we as a company were asked to file an application.  Part of the direction was that it should apply to all customers.  And that is in the DSM letter, and I think what's been stated is that given the decidedly mixed feedback, we have reduced the budget and provided enhancements that make it easier for customers to participate.


So I think those two items actually do help address what you are speaking to there.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  That is helpful.  I think those are all of my questions.  Many thanks for your indulgence, Commissioners.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. McGillivray.  And I believe you are also up next representing Anwaatin.  Am I correct on that?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I have CME in between, but I could be wrong on that.  So I am happy to proceed with Anwaatin.  I just need to switch my screen here.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. WASYLYK:  Panel, if I can jump in.  Mr. Pollock from CME will not have any questions today.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Wasylyk.  You are prepared to go, Mr. McGillivray?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I am.  Just give me a minute and I will switch over.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Mcgillivray:


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you, again, Commissioner Janigan.  I am back and wearing my Anwaatin hat now.  We have a compendium for Anwaatin as well, and I would like to have that marked as an exhibit.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ANWAATIN COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Again there's three areas I would like to canvas with you for Anwaatin today.


The first one is on the target and metrics to ensure on-reserve First Nations communities are well served, which I think goes to the DSM letter that you mentioned just a moment ago.


The second is on consultation in relation to both the proposed DSM framework, both retrospective consultation that's already taken place, and plans for future or prospective consultation.


Then finally, a more narrow area on fugitive emissions that I would like to get into.


I would like to start with the Board's December 1st, 2020, letter, which is at page 8 of our compendium.  It starts probably a little bit before that, but this is one of the pages from that letter and if you can scroll down a little bit, I think under -- we may need to find it.


I think it actually might be the bottom of page 7,  under target, metrics and shareholder incentives.  I think it is at the top of the next page:  

"The OEB is generally supportive of continuing the use of a utility incentive as reward for meeting or exceeding performance targets, and expects that future performance will be assessed relative to measurable open-based metrics."


Then the part I really wanted to draw your attention to, was where it says:  "Additional metrics should also be proposed to ensure all segments of the market are reached and small low-income customers in on-reserve First Nations communities are well served," is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  It is roughly in the middle of the screen there.  I was able to find it.  If we can go to page 13 of the compendium, would you agree that Enbridge has cited this from the Board's letter as a guiding principle in its proposed DSM framework?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I agree.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And can you point me to any part of the proposed DSM framework, the DSM plan or the specific offerings where Enbridge is proposing, to quote from the Board's letter, "additional metrics to ensure on-reserve First Nations communities are well served"?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I would point you to the approach to market, and I think that we actually highlight that the best in terms of some of the responses we said in IRs, where we talked about how we are approaching our Indigenous communities by using FNESLs as a delivery agent in providing us input, as well the surveys and the business case that we were working on prior to COVID.


We feel the metrics and the measures that are part of our program apply to all aspects of the market who are challenged from a low-income perspective or from a financial perspective.


It is really how to identify those sub segments and make the awareness of our programs across those segments more achievable is where our focus is.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  That is helpful and I am wondering if any of those points you just mentioned could be characterized as metrics, or additional metrics that are intended to ensure on-reserve First Nations communities are well served.  Is that what those are?  Are they metrics seeking to ensure that a certain customer group is well served?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We're seeking to ensure they're well served through our approach to the market, our awareness, the inclusion of the communities and the band councils in terms of participating and having employees from the communities that we're serving.


The specific metrics, if you were thinking about measure in terms of what we offer into affordable housing programs, we cover I would say those that appear to apply in the First Nations communities as our delivery agent has told us.


So our delivery agent has been very collaborative with us to help what they're seeing in homes, whether or not the basic measures, CO2 detectors, thermostats are helpful and also how much insulation we can do, whether air ceiling meet the needs for if there are barriers we haven't seen.


I would say we haven't seen additional metrics that we can install in those areas and we're always open to seeing if there is something new.  The barriers we have seen are specific to insulation and the air ceiling, the more in-depth measures that we're installing are either due to previous participation in other programs that were offered into those communities, or in some cases due to ventilation which is a health and safety requirement to get the proper ventilation so the foam isn't too tight.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you for that.  I think it may be helpful to look at a few of the offerings specifically.   At page 51 of our compendium paragraph 13, I think one of the guiding principles that you set out here for the low-income, single family and affordable housing multi-residential offerings is that they're designed distinctly from the other mass residential and commercial offerings to recognize and address unique customer needs and barriers to participation faced by this market segment.


Do you see that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I do.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Would you agree that perhaps the same guiding principle would apply to a DSM offering to on-reserve First Nation communities?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would agree it does apply. 


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then at paragraph 14, for the low-income program, it's:

"Designed to provide opportunities for a broad spectrum of consumer groups and customer needs to encourage widespread customer participation over time and ensure all segments of the market are reached."


And then I think there is a reference to several particularly hard to reach sub-groups that require tailored customer outreach.  And then First Nations communities, other visible minorities, recent immigrants, and senior citizens are mentioned.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I want to focus in on tailored customer outreach, that phrase that is used here, and ask you about what exactly Enbridge will tailor in doing that outreach or does tailor and how it achieves measurable results against metrics such as, for example, the metrics that were requested by the Board in its December 2020 letter?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  For clarity, Mr. McGillivray, would you want me to focus on the outreach for First Nations communities of those sub-segments?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Yes, I think that is fair.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Okay.  So specifically for First Nations, we identified the 20 communities that were part of Enbridge's franchise area, and then further went to identify the 14 of those communities that had residential hook-ups of natural gas in their communities so that we could target specifically those communities which would be interested in our programs.


Then, as I mentioned in the opening examination, we have a community and Indigenous engagement team.  We would contact the band councils in each of those 14 communities to ask for an opportunity to come and talk about our programs.  Our community and Indigenous engagement team does have relationships already with these communities, so it is not a cold call, but it is really bringing a different offering into those communities.


So depending on the invitation from the band council there might be a presentation, it might be phone calls, but we would share with them how we would like to approach the community.  We would also work with our delivery agent, the FNESL, who is an Indigenous on-reserve business, and have them help us in terms of how we should position these and what we would be looking at in that community.


Subject to the band council agreeing that they would like us to come on-site and to offer the program, we would then go about hiring a community liaison who, as I mentioned earlier, would be responsible for conducting open-house meetings, talking about our program, and sharing with the community.


So specific to Indigenous communities, we do know that it takes a long time to develop relationships, which is why we rely on our community and Indigenous engagement team.


We also know that people are much more comfortable if there is engagement from people within their own community, which is why we hire somebody specific in that community to help deliver the program.


And then from there we take in applications and provide -- our delivery agent takes over the process at that point and delivers the program by going into the homes, doing a blower door test and seeing what opportunity is there and qualifying them for basic measures and if appropriate for the deeper measures of air sealing and insulation.


So that would be different than what we do, say, with recent immigrants.  So just as an example, our outreach effort there, we have run our marketing materials in eight different languages targeted into communities where we know that English may not be the predominant first language, so we do something different with each one of these communities.


I would say with First Nations we have been working on our engagement and inclusion of these communities, probably for well over five, six years, so it is the most robust out of the four that are listed there.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  That is very helpful.  I would like to go to page 68 of the compendium now, which is tab 7.  This is an interrogatory response.  And we have an indication here that Enbridge will continue to monitor various information, such as, for example, for Indigenous on-reserve home winter-proofing, the number of on-reserve gas communities, the communities under -- communities outstanding, the home-served, and the lessons learned.


I think it also indicates that Enbridge does not currently track Indigenous off-reserve progress.  And Indigenous on-reserve multi-residential progress is something that could be monitored or may already be monitored to some extent, and that all of this reporting will be provided in an annual report.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.  So I could expand on -- the off-reserve is where we are turning our head to focus.  We have been on -- we have two on-reserve communities that we are going to this year which will complete our 14.  Off-reserve then becomes the new market that we are trying to target.


So we are working with outreach organizations such as the Algonquins of Ontario, the Ontario Aboriginal Housing Services from Sault Ste. Marie, Toronto Aboriginal Support Services, the Métis Nations, and others who can help us identify who might be Indigenous and off-reserve.


This is a self-identification, because it would not be something that we would track.  So we're trying to figure out how to best get to these communities or these individuals so that they can be aware and participate with our program.


With the multi-residential and commercial aspects, there are some commercial buildings on-reserve.  We don't believe there is a lot of multi-residential, but there might be some.  We have been waiting for IESO to launch their commercial program, which will cover both of these segments, because we intend on working with them so that we have one point of entry into the community to make it easier from a customer experience.


So we still don't know what that looks like, but they are aware of our interest to collaborate with them at least from an engagement with those communities to make it as easy as possible.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  That's very helpful across the range of programs and the plan going forward.  And I am going to come back to a few of them.  But I would like to turn our attention to the consultation that has been undertaken on existing programs.  And if we can go to page 21 of the compendium at tab 4.  This is Enbridge Inc.'s Indigenous Peoples policy.


And you would agree with me that the proposed DSM framework, the DSM plan, and the specific DSM program offerings are all developed in a manner consistent with this policy?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would agree.  I would highlight that this policy was created with a mindset of our operations and our projects, so more commercial.  But we are very respectful of these policies in how we determine our programs.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Yeah, I got that sense.  I would like to look at the third bullet, the top bullet in the right-hand column, which says that:

"Enbridge engages in forthright and sincere consultation with Indigenous peoples about Enbridge's projects and operations through processes that seek to achieve early and meaningful engagement so their input can help define our projects may occur on lands traditionally used by Indigenous peoples."


Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  And projects here would refer to a traditional capital project, and operations would refer to our normal operations of our pipelines and storage facilities through North America.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  So in your view, at least on its face, projects and operations does not capture the DSM framework and the DSM plan, but the spirit of this policy is that it would apply to everything Enbridge does?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.


And then in the fourth bullet -- I think we might be in the same position, but it says:

"Enbridge commits to working with Indigenous peoples to achieve benefits for them resulting from projects and operations..."


But then it says, including -- or in addition it says:

"...including opportunities in training and education, employment, procurement, business development, and community development."


This principle also applies -- though perhaps not on its face, it also applies to the DSM framework and the DSM plan.  Is that right?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  This is where we would demonstrate your comment of following the spirit of this policy.  So as I mentioned, part of our engagement is with our delivery agent, who is Indigenous, and with the community representatives, which are also from the communities.


So this is where we try to incorporate as many aspects of these policies, even though these are not capital projects.  They are not operations.  We're not putting Enbridge assets on territorial lands.  We try to comply with the spirit of the policy.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And if we go to tab 5 of the compendium, which I think is page 22.  This is Enbridge Inc.'s fairly recent, I think, Path to Reconciliation report.  I think it was released in or around February of 2022.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And you would agree that this report outlines Enbridge's commitment to reconciliation and sets out Enbridge's plan to develop a reconciliation action plan in 2022.  I think those points are on page 26.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And if we can go to page 27, at the first bullet here Enbridge says it has adopted a life-cycle approach, inclusive of feedback received from Indigenous groups, which means it will continuously engage throughout the life of Enbridge assets, not just when Enbridge has a project to build.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  And that would be specific to the assets, the ongoing relationship with the assets on territorial lands.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I'm sorry.  My interpretation of this was that it was a bit broader than just related to the assets, because I thought that it was throughout the life of an asset and not just when the asset, I guess, was built or installed.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  You are correct.  It is the life of our asset on the land.  I think the differentiation for myself, Mr. McGillivray, is the energy conservation programs don't actually leave an Enbridge asset in the home.  So that was my distinction there.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Would you agree that a life-cycle approach to consultation and engagement could be applied, or perhaps it is applied in the DSM context?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would agree.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And at page 29 of this, of our compendium in this report as well, the life-cycle approach is elaborated upon and it says or reference is made to an Indigenous life-cycle engagement framework.  Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's what it says, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I think it is another document that I didn't include in the compendium, but it is available.


You would agree with me that it would be Enbridge's intention that the commitments and the life cycle approach outlined in this report are reflected in DSM, whether it is the framework, the plan or the specific offerings?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We are definitely trying to follow the spirit of this, I would agree with that.


The life-cycle discussions they're referring to here would be specific to our community and Indigenous engagement team.  But as part of Enbridge, we are also trying to be as inclusive and follow that in the spirit with our programs as well.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Can you point me to a portion of the record, or perhaps just speak generally to consultation with Indigenous communities that you believe was or is consistent with that life cycle approach and, if so, how that consultation or engagement lived up to the life cycle approach described in this report?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I cannot speak to the life cycle around our assets which this report is specific to, although I am aware of that, you know, we could ask someone from our community Indigenous engagement team to do that.


I am familiar, for example, with communities that are close to me, like physically geographically close to me where we are constantly in communications with those communities.  We talk to them about safety, operations you know, attachments, pipeline issues and these ongoing pieces.


I think also the recent newsletter that is coming out quarterly from Enbridge to our Indigenous communities is another part of that engagement process, to keep people continually informed not only of assets and items that are maybe directly important to them, but also Enbridge's broader approach.


And programs such as our energy conservation will be highlighted in those newsletters going forward with contact information and giving people a means to reach out.


For our energy conservation programs, our consultation would have been our contact with the communities that are part of our franchise area directly, and most recently with respect to this program we have relied heavily on FNESL and the input they have in terms of our program and what is working, what the barriers are and how we should be approaching things.


The input around looking for off-reserve individuals who may also want to participate in the program, that consultation has been through some of those associations I have mentioned earlier, where we have asked if there is a means to identify what things we should start considering and it is just being kicked off at this point in time.  We started it, but it is just getting underway.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Just for the clarity of the record, you mentioned FNESL, which is the First Nations engineering services limited company.  Is that the Indigenous delivery agent that you have made reference to?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  They are the company that goes on to all of our on-reserve projects and going to the homes, doing education piece, qualify individuals for the installation of basic measures, provide CO2 detectors, and then determines whether the deeper measures are needed and then follow up with the deeper measures.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  I would like to go back in the compendium now to page 7.  We were here earlier, but I would like to make reference to a different paragraph.  This is again the Board's letter from December 1st, 2020.


And under DSM programs, it is the bottom of page 6, top of page 7, Enbridge Gas was encouraged here by the Board to find ways to increase the natural gas savings from its programs by reducing free-ridership, targeting key segments of the market and then we have a reference -- and this is the one I want to emphasize -- a key segment of the market being including low-income and on-reserve First Nations communities.  And then there is also a reference to customers with significant room for efficiency improvements and strategically incenting customers to achieve more savings.


Is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  And then there is an additional expectation set by the Board here that Enbridge will be actively screening potential program participants thoroughly and actively seeking out customers who can most greatly benefit from the programs to ensure the funds from the program are used as efficiently as possible.  Do you see that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The print is small, but I will go with I see it.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  If we could go to page 18 of the compendium to follow up on this, my understanding is that Enbridge is considering DSM program strategy that goes beyond -- we made reference to this earlier, but it is a strategy that goes beyond on-reserve Indigenous communities and also seeks to apply or extend to off-reserve Indigenous customers.  And specifically it is focussed on home winter proofing, is that fair?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's fair.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Do you have any comments on how you propose to consult or engage with off-reserve Indigenous communities on this program strategy?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I think you can see that in the third bullet there, third paragraph that we're working with the urban Indigenous communities that I mentioned and we're continuing to work with others to see what is the best outreach mechanisms that we should use in order to identify potential off-reserve participants for our home winter proofing program.


So our hope is through working with these organizations -- and they're all very interested in partnering with us and working with us -- is to find, are there meetings, are there communities, are there, you know, any type of sort of marketing outreach that will reach these communities specifically or will help us to do that.


So that is our focus and as I said, we just launched that in the last few months, but we do expect that we will be able to at least identify the possibilities there and then we will report back as we committed in our annual DSM updates as to how we're doing with the off reserve outreach and what success we're having with that group.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  So I think you just said it, but just to be clear, the annual DSM reporting will include an update on the off-reserve strategy and part of that will be a discussion of the engagement and consultation efforts with that customer group.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  And I expect it will be an evolving process.  Being familiar just with our low-income marketing for many years, it sometimes takes several strategies and several different partnerships to actually be able to reach people and communicate in a way that they can receive the program and participate.  And I expect this to be similar.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  And then I also understand from page 18 here -- and you already made reference to this -- Enbridge is pursuing opportunities to collaborate with the Independent Electricity System Operator on DSM opportunities and there is sort of a mix much references here to commercial and industrial multi-unit residential buildings, potentially those owned by Indigenous band councils and the like.


Can you talk about how you propose to consult and engage with that segment of the market?  I know that it is contingent on the IESO programming, but -- sorry, go ahead.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So we're waiting for the IESO program to see what it is to start with.  But in the absence of an IESO program that we can work with, we will still plan on pursuing opportunities on these communities, and we're just currently discussing is the best approach to continue with the delivery agent we have or is there another delivery agent who might be better positioned to help us identify those opportunities on reserve.


The reason we're waiting for IESO is we do know from experience it is much better, from a customer experience perspective and from band councils, if they have one presentation which encompasses all of their opportunities.


So we have ongoing discussions with IESO.  Our understanding is they hope to have something in the next couple of months that we can then formulate a plan as to whether it makes sense to work together or whether we just need to start moving forward on our own, but our intention is to work with IESO.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Would it be reasonable to expect an update on that programming in the annual report as well?  Or no?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  We would share collaboration updates in that report, I believe, yes.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  I just want to go to a final area now in my last couple of minutes.  My understanding is that the distribution, transportation, storage of natural gas involves a risk of fugitive methane emissions; is that fair?  And I am not sure who on this panel that question is best addressed to.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is not my area of expertise.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. McGillivray, can you help us with which issue you are talking about?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I am talking about the risk of fugitive methane emissions from the distribution, transport, and storage of natural gas across the system.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  So the plan application that we have here today doesn't deal with any issues related to distribution of natural gas.  It is solely with the conservation programs.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Well, I think that kind of anticipates my next question, because what I would really like to get at is whether or not any of the DSM offerings, the plan, the framework, do any of them do anything that would impact or could be expected to impact fugitive methane emissions?


MR. FERNANDES:  Our operational folks would have to be the ones that address how they're doing that.  I am extremely loosely aware that it is something that is important to them and will be required in other areas, but our DSM programming is for our customers.  So we don't offer programming to ourselves.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  So it would be -- would it be fair to say that if there is any impact of the DSM programming on fugitive methane emissions, it would be indirect?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think that is a fair way of portraying it.  We don't really have someone here today who can speak to what the company is doing on the operational side.  But there is nothing in the application that deals with anything even remotely related to that.


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  I think that is fair.  Many thanks, panel.  Many thanks, Commissioners.  Those are all of my questions.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. McGillivray.


I believe next up is the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, FRPO.  Mr. Quinn.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.  And good afternoon, Commissioners Janigan, Moran, and Zlahtic.  I am here on behalf of Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, formally known as FRPO, but we will try to stay out of the acronyms also.


Good afternoon also to the Enbridge witness panel.  I believe most of my questions for this panel will be for Ms. Van Der Paelt, but to assist our discussions we provided a compendium, and I was going to ask, Mr. Murray, if we could get an exhibit number, please.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K1.5. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And if we could turn, Ms. Adams, to page 3 -- sorry, page 2 to start.  This is just to give the highlight.  I am going to do an introduction that we -- the issue that we're concerned about is in late 2021 Enbridge changed its criteria for the qualification of privately owned, affordable multi-residential buildings.  We want to highlight the process, our concerns regarding the change on the equity and efficacy of the program, and the company's views on monitoring and adapting this program.


If we could turn to that letter that informs the Board's criteria -- sorry, informs the Board of the criteria change, which is shown here on page 2, but we can note the date is December 16th of 2021.  This change was invoked, and the Board was informed.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  That's correct.  I'm sorry if that didn't come out, Mr. Quinn.  I'm a little dry.


MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, Ms. Van Der Paelt.  I didn't hear you.  I'm not sure if the court reporter did.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So in terms of background, Enbridge and Union Gas used different eligibility criteria during the last DSM term.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  But neither use the new CMHC criteria that is being implemented; is that right?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So now you are aware that FRPO has reservations and communicated reservations about this change and encouraged continuing with the existing criteria and measuring the potential effect of the change in parallel.  Are you aware of that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I am aware that the Federation of Rental-housing Providers did provide some concerns in December.  We did stakeholder with Mr. Whitehead, who I believe is a senior official with the Federation of Rental-housing Providers, in March.  He didn't express the same concerns at that time, but I wouldn't say that he said, you know, he was accepting of all of the proposal either at that point in time.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I understand, first, a correction.  Mr. Whitehead is not an official, but a member of the staff of the federation.


But if we could just turn to page 4 -- sorry, I am just getting my PDF and page numbers, but page 4 of the PDF and compendium and the last paragraph at the bottom of the page.


So we just highlighted for simplicity for the Board's view, you did do stakeholdering with a number of groups, but then when you communicated the support of the groups, FRPO was notably absent.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  The other three groups did support Federation of Rental Property -- I am not going to get this right either, Mr. Quinn -- Providers of Ontario did have some concerns.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, let's talk about those concerns.  And so I think we could maybe help the Board understand our concerns.


If we can turn to the data that Enbridge provided for the Union territory, which is on page 6 of the compendium, please.  And Ms. Adams, if you would, as I think that one was going to take up the full screen, but when we get into a portrait view possibly we can expand the screen for everybody to read, but this again might be an eye test, so I am not expecting anybody -- but this is the analysis that Enbridge undertook for the Union Gas territory to look at how the CMHC criteria would affect the eligibility of privately-owned apartment buildings for low-income in the Union Gas territory.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So it is a small subset of the LUG properties that are available where we did a review to see what could be the impacts prior to launching this, but it is not the entire LUG rent roll analysis.


MR. QUINN:  I can accept that as a clarification, but there were 15 building numbers, and so for simplicity, if we can turn to the next page of the PDF of the summary rent roll analysis, I have highlighted the bottom for ease of read.  So seven out of the 15 implementing the 30-80 rules would have been successful, for a rate of 46 percent.  Read that there?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's what it says, correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that is what it says.  But interpreting that, the criteria that Union had been using, if the CMHC criteria would have been in place, less than half of the previously successful buildings would have qualified.  Is that a correct interpretation?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is a correct interpretation.  We are continuing to do rent roll analysis.  We just completed one that went up to March, which again had a small subset.  So it is, you know, I'm not sure if it is ten buildings, but in that case 100 percent of them did qualify.


MR. QUINN:  Ms. Van Der Paelt, is that on the record in this proceeding?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, it is not.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I would ask -- and I understand you're only here for a day and we were concerned about that.  But if you are going to be providing new evidence, that we have an opportunity to see the evidence and ask questions about it.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I am happy to do that, Mr. Quinn, but maybe I could expand.  So one of the concerns was, was this going to change the qualification rate?  And we committed we would do ongoing monitoring and reporting on what this would look like as we implemented it.


So we re continuing on an ongoing basis to look at those homes and to evaluate whether or not it is making any significant difference, as we committed in our filing in January.  The reason...


MR. QUINN:  We will get to that, Ms. Van Der Paelt, and I may have to circle back to this issue before we ask for an undertaking because I am reluctant to do that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Quinn.  Mr. Chair, I think it is only fair to allow Ms. Van Der Paelt to complete her answer.  I don't think she was finished and Mr. Quinn didn't allow it to be completed.


MR. QUINN:  My apologies, Commissioner Janigan.  This is new information that had we been aware and with Enbridge's understanding of our concerns in this area, I think we would have been one of the first to know this new and breaking information.


So now my concern is that we don't interrupt the efficiency of this proceeding, but at the same time new evidence is being brought into the record which we haven't had a chance to review and potentially ask questions about.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Quinn, I think Mr. O'Leary's concern just related to the completeness of Ms. Van Der Paelt's answer.  So possibly we should get the full answer, and then deal with your difficulties associated with this particular bit of evidence.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So thank you.  We committed -- because this is new and we only had 15 homes or 15 buildings -- to do a cursory look last December that we were able to share with the individuals we were stakeholdering with.


We are continuing to monitor and look at this as an ongoing piece.  Whenever you look at a subset, you really need to look at the entire population.


So even the work that we have just done and on a continuing ongoing basis will be at a point in time.  I think we need to look, as we go through this process, and see, you know, how many qualify rather than sitting our sights on the seven that was in this subset, or the subset that I just mentioned.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I apologize, Ms. Van Der Paelt, for interrupting.  But what you are talking about is an ongoing assessment of the data.  Is that not aligned with what FRPO's concerns were and expressed to you in these meetings we had late in 2021?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I'm sorry.  I am not sure what your question is there, Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  I stated, and it can be provided for the record if necessary, that our concerns were that the change be delayed till after the Board's decision, and during 2022 there would be an ongoing monitoring of the effects of this change and potential implications for the program.


Is that not consistent with what you are doing now, in terms of ongoing evaluation?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  So I agree that Federation of Rental-housing Providers concerns were around how many would qualify.  The other three stakeholders who are also engaged in this were more concerned that the methods we were using today were not accurately targeting the group of low-income providers that we were looking for, and felt it was important to implement that and track it.


So we did listen to the concerns and balanced out what we heard from yourselves with what we heard from the other three stakeholders as identified in evidence, and as a result did file with the Board a proposal to which we did not have any objections in January.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to try to parse that out.  First off, you went ahead with the change, but you used the cursory -- I am using your word, the cursory initial look you had to say that is sufficient data for us to move forward?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We went ahead with what we believe is the correct or better way of measuring market rate participation than what we were currently using at either of the legacy utilities, and in a manner that could be harmonized across all of our programs for the next period of five years.


MR. QUINN:  Let's get some more detail.  I will determine if we need to loop back to additional information.  So, Ms. Adams, if you don't mind moving forward to the next page, page 8 of the compendium.  We asked under issue 10 an interrogatory that would break out the Enbridge and Union savings over the last term of DSM.  So that page provides context for the question.


The response is following on page 1, if you would advance it to page 9 of the compendium, please.


So in this table, Enbridge responded to our request for an estimation of the affordable multi-family building savings between privately owned and social housing buildings.


I can give you a moment to look at the numbers.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's...


MR. QUINN:  You are familiar with this Ms. Van Der Paelt?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, I am.  Yes, I am.


MR. QUINN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that in the Enbridge territory, the savings were almost 50 percent from the privately owned affordable buildings?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Well, as we mentioned in the response, that is our best efforts because we don't actually track it in that manner in the legacy Enbridge territory.  But as we reported here, that is our best efforts of how we believe the results fell.


MR. QUINN:  So that is why I used approximately 50 percent, because I understand there are some estimates, but back to 2014 we had a breakout that was provided by the company.  So would you also take it, subject to check, that the same comparison in the Union territory comes in just under 30 percent?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  In the Union territory, I believe it is 40 percent is private and 60 percent is social.


MR. QUINN:  With numbers from this table, Ms. Van Der Paelt?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yeah.  I was just dividing the 8 million over 20 versus the 12 million over 20.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That is the 2020.  You are looking -- that is not a totalling column.  That is your 2020 draft audit column?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right.


MR. QUINN:  There were no totals provided.  So if you could take it subject to check that it comes in just under 30 percent, the total?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Subject to check.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So you are aware that the genesis of this success in the Enbridge territory was a collaboration of Enbridge working with FRPO, Toronto Hydro, City of Toronto and United Way?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would say that is one factor.  There was a lot of other things that we did in the low-income multi-family to get significant results, such as we communicate with every municipality social housing on an ongoing basis and look for opportunities using our own energy service advisors.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we will provide some of that to the Board in our submissions.  So it might help us all with the history.  But are you aware that prior to this collaboration, United Way had done a study called Vertical Poverty that recognized that 75 percent of low-income lived in privately owned apartment buildings in Toronto?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, I am not aware.


MR. QUINN:  Well, again that is part of the past record we can provide to the Board.


So going back to the change initiated by Enbridge just for -- starting in 2022, if we overlay a more stringent criteria on the Union territory criteria, can you see why we were concerned and proposed the existing criteria continue until more testing of the criteria could be done?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I understand the concerns that the federation voiced.  I think the measurement that we have proposed and have implemented that follows the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation's guidelines will identify the appropriate markets, and make sure that our incentives are going to the right individuals.


We also did add -- and I am not sure if this was on the recommendation from your association, Mr. Quinn, but I have a feeling it might have been.  We did also add it is not just the qualification based on the proposed metric of the Canadian Housing and Mortgage Corporation; also, if they had participated in other programs, whether it be municipal, federal or provincial, that would automatically qualify these buildings as well.  So they don't have to qualify twice.  


MR. FERNANDES:  One thing I would like to add, Mr. Quinn, the letter that you noted in your compendium was sent in December.  It was specifically to inform the Board that the company needed to make this change.


One of the items listed is that the legacy approach that you are referring to uses outdated information, which was one of the items that the other stakeholders were concerned about.


So as a program administrator, we did what we needed to do, which was consult with stakeholders multiple times.  We didn't get 100 percent agreement, but we still needed to make a decision and move forward, so we informed the Board it applies to 2022, as has been stated, is that we're going to track this, and if we need to update further we will consult with our stakeholders and do that at that point in time.


MR. QUINN:  Well, thank you, sir.  I understand that is your position, but that is not what I was asking about at this time.  We have heard a lot about the company needing sufficient incentive to pursue savings.  However, is it not correct that Enbridge has not separated social housing from privately-owned affordable multi-family buildings in its proposed scorecard?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is correct.


MR. QUINN:  So how would the company be incented to pursue equitable distribution of the opportunity to extend the benefits of the low-income programs to those tenants in privately owned buildings?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So we do know that in the social housing municipally-owned social housing market, that is where we spent a lot of our attention.  And as we stated in the evidence, we believe the market rate private, social housing is the market that we will be looking for and we will be focused on.


The purpose of not separating the scorecard is that we need to drive results on all aspects of this low-income multi-family piece, and very different barriers for private than there is for social.  And depending what the challenges are, we want to make sure that all the money is deployed and that we achieve results in this market in totality.


MR. QUINN:  So extending your answer, if you were able to meet your target and there were zero privately-owned affordable family homes that were included -- I'm sorry, multi-family homes that were included, you would still meet your incentive, and that would be acceptable to the company, in terms of its outcome for 100 percent of its target.  Correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I disagree that that would be acceptable to the company.  We are very committed to --


MR. QUINN:  We are --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  -- meeting all -- let me finish, please, Mr. Quinn.  We are very committed to delivering multi-family programs to both private and social housing sectors.  We have identified a plan to market it to private housing specifically and to figuring out how to uncover and reach that market, which is a difficult market to reach across North America, and we are working continually to try to find venues to reach and get rid of the barriers that prevent those individuals from participating.


So if we ended up with 100 percent on social and zero percent on private, I would not deem that as success from my perspective of Enbridge's DSM program in this sector.


MR. FERNANDES:  I would have to add, Mr. Quinn, that that is not the structure of our scorecard either.  Just because they're measured by the same metric -- we have an equal incentive to do both.  What you are saying could actually be the exact opposite.  It could be 100 percent of the market rate and zero of the other, and, yes, that would be the mathematical construct that it would be under.  But we have an incentive to do both.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you created more stringent criteria for privately owned homes, overlaid not on the Enbridge data but on the Union data, which had less than 30 percent success rate.  You're telling me that that more stringent criteria is going to increase the opportunity for privately owned homes?


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Quinn, you are pointing to a very small subset.  It was a very small sample at one point in time.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Maybe I could add in there.  We have changed the criteria, because the previous criteria was outdated and was not being tracked appropriately.  And so nobody had comfort that we were truly targeting 100 percent of the correct population and that we needed to become better at how we do the qualifications to ensure that this funding was actually going to low-income homes and low-income housing.


So I think if I reference into Exhibit 1.10.EGI.FRPO.20 -- you don't need to bring it up, but it is an IR response.  We actually stated in there that the existence of rent geared to income, which was a previous mechanism, although it was currently applied for market rate customers the results were not tracked.


We also contemplate that the building owners -- we found that the criteria that we had did not have the same reliability, as we thought something that was a third-party Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation methodology would, and this was confirmed by other stakeholders and the concern that we were actually getting to the right markets.


And in the legacy Enbridge territory we were using postal codes by adjacent neighbourhoods.  Again, there was concerns that we weren't necessarily getting exactly to the target market we wanted, and we believe this mechanism will do that, and have committed to tracking it and seeing how successful it is and having ongoing dialogues with yourself and others around it as we move forward.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you are committed to tracking it, why does your scorecard not reflect the proportion of social versus privately owned buildings from which the savings are derived?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Because for the purpose of tracking how we're doing is to improve the program delivery mechanisms.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's great.  So if there's no incentive now, would you be willing to add one such that there is visibility into the program to see if there is equitable distribution?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I think the scorecard that we have proposed here, as I said, balances both private and social multi-family.  We are committed to going to both markets and need the flexibility to move between them depending on the barriers that are popping up.


It could be related to COVID.  It could be related to declarations by municipalities.  It could be related to capital for private buildings.  We need that flexibility within the scorecard.


We are committed to going after the private multi-family market, and we are committed to saying how the new mechanisms are doing and whether it is making any substantive change in our ability to attract or obtain projects in that market.


I don't think you can change the scorecard.


MR. QUINN:  So specific incentives are not required to do that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I do not believe so, no.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. --


MR. QUINN:  I would like to -- sorry, Mr. Fernandes.  I only have so much time today.  I do have a follow-up question which may help us both, because what we're asking, in Enbridge's view, how would this evolution be tracked in a way that the Board and the stakeholders will have insight into how you are doing it, and how does the company see the next steps into how the criteria could be evolved if you are not getting the outcomes that Ms. Van Der Paelt was speaking to?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think Ms. Van Der Paelt already said that we've committed to tracking this.  We started doing that.


MR. QUINN:  How does it look procedurally, Mr. Fernandes?  That is what I am trying to get to.


MR. FERNANDES:  What you are trying to get to and what I am trying to get to as well is I don't think it actually necessarily needs something formal before the OEB.


As a practical matter, the -- as a program administrator we need to make changes in our programs over time.  That happens.  We inform the Board.  We consulted.  You know, the process that we went through was eminently reasonable, and if we have to adapt again, we will.  Like, we're in communication with low-income constituents that we're serving with these programs.


If those things change or if there is a change, you know, we're in collaboration with IESO, we would need to adapt to those things in the market, and it is not necessarily going to have a formal proceeding around it, because that would be completely inefficient from a regulatory point of view.


What the company did is what it is expected to do as a program administrator.  We consulted more than once.  We informed the Board.  We didn't see any complaints when we formally informed the Board.


Now, if you would like to have a position here or if, like you were mentioning before, that you think we should change our scorecard, you are welcome to take that position, and we would consider it.  But I think we've responded and said we don't think that is necessary, in terms of the scorecard structure --


MR. QUINN:  Well, I --


MR. FERNANDES:  In terms of what we've done, I don't know what else we could have done.  We had other -- we had several other stakeholders that were saying that the methodology was outdated and inappropriate.  So to continue with that would have been worse.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Fernandes, I know that is your position and you have outlined my position.  But what leverage or what regulatory relief could FRPO seek inside of this term of DSM which would allow the Board to consider and opine on whether the criteria needs evolution or not?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Mr. Quinn, if it would be helpful, so we have committed in our annual report to speak to, you know, how the new mechanism is going.


I don't believe we need to change the scorecard, but we would be willing to also, in our annual report, talk about what percentage is private and what percentage is social, as an information and a point of discussion with stakeholders.


But to build on what Mr. Fernandes has said, we would -- if we are not seeing the traction that we are hoping, or we're seeing additional barriers as the program administrators, we would be seeking the input of all of the stakeholders in this segment to help us understand what we do next and how to improve the program in order to reach this market.


MR. QUINN:  I have experienced the consultation and in spite of the fact we offered an opportunity to study this during this year without implementing new criteria, that's not the way it is done.


So that's why we're in front of the Board at this juncture saying we are not satisfied.  We didn't complain, Mr. Fernandes, at the time because we were in a proceeding already.


This is a change that is happening and we're asking for more insight, more transparency and the steps towards relief that we could seek if we're not satisfied.


So does the panel have anything to add to the steps that we could seek?  Having viewed the annual report and not being satisfied, what steps would we take to ensure that the Board ensures an equitable distribution of the benefits to both private and social housing?


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Quinn, you are conflating two issues.  If you would like to have an equitable distribution or a tracking metric on the scorecard system, that's completely within the scope of what's in this proceeding.


We have heard from other parties that have already said that our proposed structure is complex.  So you could add another degree of complexity to it by having a separate mechanism embedded within the actual scorecard structure.  And I would welcome, if you would, you know, put that in your argument, we would be able to respond to that, if you think that is appropriate.


But in terms of the eligibility requirements, which was instituted for the 2022 year, it was necessary for the company as a program administrator to do something because the methods were based on outdated data.


We had to make a change.  It would have been inappropriate not to make a change.  Just because one of the stakeholders that we consulted with did not agree when the vast majority did, what else could we have done?  We moved forward and we informed the Board formally.


MR. QUINN:  At the risk of getting into argument, Mr. Fernandes, I am just going to leave it at.  What I am hearing is our only relief that we could see is to go to the Board to get that at this time.  Otherwise, we can wait for next term.  Is that correct?


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Quinn, I don't really want to interrupt your cross-examination, but I think you have -- we have established the nature of the disagreement between FRPO and the company.  And really this is something that is better left to argument.


MR. QUINN:  I agree to a great extent, Mr. Janigan.  Thank you -- sorry, Commissioner Janigan.  Thank you for your time and indulgence.


What I am trying to invoke from the witnesses is some commitment inside of the term of this DSM.  If we're not able to convince more complexity, what we have is, yes, we have heard you, but no, we are not going to do that.  See us in five years.  And that is the concern we have.


MR. JANIGAN:  I think that is something you want to advance to the Board at this juncture.  They have made their decision on the basis of their judgment and what's produced to them, and I think you could advance that in the context of your argument to convince the OEB otherwise.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, sir, and I won't ask the last follow up question I had.  I appreciate the time and I will leave it at this for this panel and we will see other questions in panel 2.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.  Next we have the Low-Income Energy Network, LIEN.

EXAMINATION BY MS. VALLANI:


MS. VALLANI:   Good afternoon Enbridge, panel one.  Good afternoon, commissioners.  This is Madi Vallani for the Low-Income Energy Network.


I have a few follow up questions pertaining to Enbridge's responses to Exhibit I5 and Exhibit I6.  So if we can start first with Exhibit JT2.15, Enbridge's undertaking response to undertaking 117 with reference to LIEN 1 to add the 2021 data to tables 1 and 2.


Can Enbridge please elaborate on why certain data are missing for 2021 regarding the dollar transfer allocation amount between programs for the Union rate zones?


I see low-income evaluation, low-income administration, those pieces of data appear to be missing.


MR. JOHNSON:  So the system they're referring to budget transfers.  So if there is no data in that particular line, it simply means there was no budget transfers for that line item.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you very much.  Would you agree that the tables show that the low-income program budgets have been reduced from the years 2015-2021?


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, for clarity you said budget; do you mean spend relative to budget?


MS. VALLANI:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I have it up separately, so overall yes.  If what you're asking has the spend for the low-income programs generally been lower than the budget, I would agree to that.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And regarding the Union rate zone, could you please confirm that every year between 2015 and 2020, money has been transferred away from the low-income programs for admin and evaluation reasons?


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, do you mean money has been transferred from those budgets again?


MS. VALLANI:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Just trying to understand your question.


MS. VALLANI:  Yes.  From the budgets.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So as an example, you're referring to legacy Union.  If you look at 2015, there was dollars transferred in for evaluations, dollars transferred out for admin.  But by and large, your statement is in aggregate true.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And can you expand a bit on what the admin bucket covers?


MR. JOHNSON:  So the administration bucket for -- I'm checking legacy Union -- the administration bucket would cover salaries, expenses related to staff for low income primarily.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then respecting table 2 for the Enbridge rate zone, can you confirm that in every year between to 2015 and 2020, except for the year 2018, money was transferred away from low-income programs?  I see 2.5 million in 2017 and 1.2 million in 2020 was transferred from residential programs.


Could you expand a bit on this and explain why this money was transferred?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I can confirm those dollars were transferred.  I'm not sure if there is someone else who would comment on the specifics of why that is.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Mr. Johnson, why don't you go first and then I will add.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, did you suggest I go first, Ms. Van Der Paelt?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So I mean from a pure mechanics point of view, it is simply dollars were not spent within the program for whatever the reason, and for low-income and dollars were spent within another area where there was more program spending.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I can expand on that.  So it is not that the decision is made necessarily to transfer money out of low-income.


How the process would work internally is, as we go through the year, once we're hitting the last quarter of the year we would see what opportunities are left.  And if there is a market that is not performing, because we're not seeing the opportunities and we don't have time to get them and we are able to move the money into a market that could have opportunities, and I think in this case it was primarily residential, we did do that, though, as noted from feedback from yourselves and others, we have ring-fenced the low-income budget going forward in our proposal so that there will no longer be transfers out of the low-income budget to other programs, and that is part of our proposal.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you very much for clarifying.


My next set of questions pertain to Exhibit I5.  And we will go to LIEN 2, please.  Thank you.  So I have a few follow-up questions about Enbridge's responses.  Enbridge states that it's committed to offering no-cost measures that do not require upfront costs be borne by qualified low-income participants, but if Enbridge identifies an opportunity for a new measure that requires some upfront costs from a low-income consumer, Enbridge would present the rationale behind the opportunity and discuss with stakeholders before its implementation.


Could Enbridge please confirm all of the measures for low-income -- that all of the measures for low-income programs are free and installation is free for qualified low-income participants?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I can confirm all the measures are free for low-income participants as individuals.  Where there is some cost is with the property manager or potentially social housing.  They would have -- bear some costs of those programs.  But the measures that are actually installed in units in social housing where the actual homeowner would see it, those measures are all free.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you.  And does Enbridge include this reference to potential for low-income customers to bear costs for low-income programs only because the 2015 to 2020 filing guidelines permit this?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The reference was to be all-inclusive of both multi-family and single-family homes.  We don't intend to charge single-family or tenants costs.  It is where we have bigger projects for multi-family where it could be the heating and ventilation systems for building envelope upgrades where we would probably have shared costs.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And does Enbridge contemplate ever, in any situation within the upcoming DSM term, invoking an option to have low-income customers bear any costs for low-income programs?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We don't envision a situation today.  I am not sure what measures might appear on the horizon, but we certainly at this point do not envision charging our low-income tenants or homeowners costs for the programs.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And what does -- if today you could contemplate when you say or when Enbridge states there could be an opportunity for a new measure that may require some upfront costs to be borne by a qualified low-income participant, can you contemplate at this time what that opportunity might be?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I cannot think of a measure at this point in time where it would require a cost.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you.  And can Enbridge at this time commit to not invoking at this point during its implementation of low-income programs during the current DSM term that costs be borne by low-income customers?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would say it's definitely not our intent or plan.  I believe what we did state in here, which is part of the regulatory process, is that should we see some measures, so something great and wonderful comes on the scene, we would stakeholder and consult with yourselves and others who specialize in the low-income field to figure out what is the best way of bringing that to market.


So there would be engagement and stakeholdering before we brought anything forward that had a cost.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you for clarifying that.


My next set of questions pertains to LIEN 3, also in issue 5.  So a few follow-up questions on sub-bullet A.


Could you please elaborate on what health and safety tracking and reporting will look like and what specific measures Enbridge will take to implement health and safety tracking and reporting?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So as we indicated, we did not track this prior.  We were aware through consultation with our delivery agents, but it wasn't formally tracked and reported on, so we have asked our delivery agents to now -- in the reporting that they give to us, there is now fields in the forum to tell us if there was a health and safety measure that either prevented them from delivering the program or that needed to be dealt with through additional funding for health and safety measures.


So that has been implemented, and we will report on that as part of our annual meeting.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  And can you clarify or elaborate a bit on exactly what you will track?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So we're tracking the types of health and safety items that either need to be dealt with, because we do have some funding now that we do for smaller items, so such as, you know, creating access, if there's access issues or hoarding issues or things like that that we've mentioned in evidence, but also for those items where it might be something that can't be dealt with within that budget, it is a bigger-ticket item that really needs to be dealt with around the house before you start upgrading through air sealing and insulation, so there could be some building envelope or some other issues that are beyond the scope of this program.  We would ask them to track those as well.


So I don't want to speculate exactly what they would be, but we would be covering both.  Anything that comes up, we would be reporting on.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you.  And how will health and safety hazards of different measures be documented?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Right now they're being documented through application forms, the -- it's application forms, through the reporting of our delivery agents.  We've asked them to tell us what the issues are.


I am not sure if it's going to be a drop-down box with specific things to pick from or they have the ability to write in what they're seeing in their own words, but it will be in a verbal format.  Then we will summarize where we see, you know, multiple of the same type of issues so that we can understand if there's common barriers from a health and safety perspective that maybe need to be dealt with first, or if they're all very different.


So we will see what that looks like and we will then see if we can -- we will see if it has enough meat in it for us to be able to make some determinations on the health and safety side, and if not, we will ask for more reporting from our delivery agents.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay, thank you very much.  Next could we please move to I5.LIEN 4.  We have a few follow-up questions about soliciting feedback from stakeholders.


At the technical conference on March 1st we asked Enbridge to expand how -- on how Enbridge will collect feedback outside of the annual DSM stakeholder meetings from contractors, community partners, service organizations, and so on and so forth, leading up to and to inform Enbridge's midpoint assessment of its DSM programs.


Enbridge answered that Enbridge will have ongoing discussions with key stakeholders such as delivery agents and will deliver Enbridge's -- that will deliver Enbridge's programs and ongoing feedback from customers from participant surveys and ongoing stakeholder feedback sessions as well.


Could you please elaborate on how frequently Enbridge plans to have these consultation discussions?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So we have ongoing consultation engagement with all of these providers on a consistent basis.  So for example, social housing, municipalities, we are talking to them all the time.  We connect with every social housing provider, the big ones, we have formal meetings set up quarterly.


We also continue to engage with organizations such as your own and VECC and others to understand where there might be opportunities.


We do that ongoing consultation and with our delivery agents in order to continually refine our programs to make sure that we're reaching -- we haven't -- we're marketing correctly and we have that.


In terms of stakeholdering in an official way that we will measure and report, we will have our annual stakeholder process, and we will, if we are seeing changes that need to be done, we will have stakeholdering meetings, no different than we have done where we could for this proceeding.


So we had a limited amount of time, but we did have some official stakeholdering meetings for this proceeding and they were documented and filed as part of our application.


So it would be similar to that is what I would say.


MS. VALLANI:  Can Enbridge commit at this time to holding stakeholder meetings every six months?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I think we would take that under advisement.  I wouldn't want to commit quite yet without knowing exactly all the stakeholders that we would need to meet with and whether that would fit.


But we would certainly take that under advisement if we thought -- if we thought there was value in us having a regular stakeholder meeting.


Currently we committed to an annual stakeholder day where we would have that engagement.  If you would like to see something more frequent, we would welcome that suggestion in your argument.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  One last question.  Can Enbridge confirm that it will consult with LIEN to solicit feedback on an ongoing basis?  I know we're in discussions right now, but just to put that on the record.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We see yourself, LIEN, as well as VECC as to two very key groups, as well as the HSC community to get that program feedback.  So we will always be communicating with yourselves to understand where you think we could find new communities to participate, and additions you think we could bring into our program.  So, yes, I would commit to that.


MS. VALLANI:  Thank you.  My last question -- I appreciate I am over time by a little, but I have one last set of questions pertaining to issue 6, LIEN 6.  If we could go there, please, and specifically to attachment 1.  I have PDF page 1 -- page 69.  Sorry.


Thank you.  It appears that the low-income total budget is staying consistent at 2022 levels between the years 2023 and 2027.  Would you agree that the total low-income budget in 2023 is lower than in 2022, and it will take until 2027 to catch up to the 2022 levels?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would agree that it is -- yes, it is lower than the 2022 and it does move up, and it does take until 2027 to have that same number.


I believe there is a slight difference in the treatment of administrative costs, but subject to check, that is approximately what it looks like, yes.


MS. VALLANI:  Can you explain why the budget decreased from 2022 to 2023?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So the budget was allocated based on what we -- we looked at our historicals from the 2019, 2020-2021 time period or -- sorry, the 2018-2020 time period.  And we looked at the actuals and we based our budget roughly on what that amount is, and looked to see what we thought we could achieve using those dollars.  And that was our format, right.


We started with our budget allocations and then went from that basis, being cognizant of the fact every ratepayer is contributing to the payment of this market.


We then also ring fenced the budget to ensure those dollars were spent in this market to make sure that, you know, it is -- it is not moved to another market where we're seeing a higher performance and we're having trouble.


I would say the other part we're seeing here is we believe that it is going to be a harder market to achieve some of the results for a couple of reasons.


We are seeing with some of our biggest social housing providers they are moving towards non-gas buildings and potentially not being a customer of Enbridge.  So that has a significant impact on the market share.


And we do know that the single family homes are becoming very expensive and harder to get to.  So we have tried to manage the budget and the targets within that constraint.


We did indicate, if the Board viewed that there should be additional budget put to this market, where it would be allocated in one of the other IR responses.  I believe it was Staff 13.


MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Vallani.  I think we will take our lunch break now and resume at 2 p.m.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good afternoon, everyone.  Next we will have Shelley Grice representing the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I better know what that acronym stands for.  Ms. Grice.


Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, Commissioners and panel.  All of my questions are related to the low-income program.


So I did file a compendium early this morning which basically just contains pieces of Enbridge's evidence.  If we could give that an exhibit number.


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  That will be Exhibit K1.6. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And if we can please turn to page 1 of the compendium -- or, sorry, page 2.  So this is directly from Enbridge's low-income program evidence regarding the low-income sector.


And just in paragraph 1, Enbridge discusses that there are two different measures of poverty and housing need:  The low-income measure after tax and the core housing need, that each suggests that 15 percent of people in Ontario fall below the threshold for each measure.


And Enbridge goes on to say that the low-income program is intended to serve these constituents.  And I note that there is a footnote number 1, and we don't need to go there, but the footnote is from the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, and it's data from their Ontario action plan, under the national housing strategy.


And I just wanted to get agreement that the data that Enbridge is referring to reflects data up to and including 2018.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I believe that is correct, Ms. Grice, subject to check, but I believe that is -- that is right.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So I just wanted to have a little bit of a discussion just around the constituent level, that given the recent impacts of COVID-19 and inflation on low-income people and ongoing issues related to housing affordability and availability, would Enbridge agree that it is reasonable to assume that since 2018 the percentage of people in Ontario that fall below these low-income thresholds is increasing and could now be beyond 15 percent?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  I would -- no, I obviously don't know that for sure, Ms. Grice.  I would say, though, that the -- depending on how people are measuring it, COVID might have actually introduced some anomalies because of the government payments and tilted things, but there is a lot of inflation.  There is a lot of, you know, employment issues and other things.  So I would say it was reasonable what you are suggesting.  But I don't have any facts upon which to base it, but it does sound reasonable.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then just in terms of the number of low-income constituents in Enbridge's franchise area, if we sort of agree that that is a possibility, then the number of constituents in your franchise area that are low-income would increase as well.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That would be correct.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And does Enbridge undertake any independent analysis on low-income trends or do you rely on the data that is published by the government?  Is that typically where you get your low-income data.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  We would rely on any government, whether it be census or national organizations that publish.  We don't have our own data where we ask income.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to shift to a new area now.  There's been a lot of discussion already on the coordination between Enbridge and third parties, and on March 25th Enbridge did file a program coordination summary, and I just have a couple of follow-up questions on that.


So if we can please turn to page 11 of the compendium.  Sorry, I am just getting there myself.


Okay.  So this is an interrogatory from Environmental Defence, and what it is showing in this first table under low-income is the coordination activities that have been talked about where Enbridge is going to coordinate the delivery of its home winter-proofing program with the IESO's energy affordability program, and I just had a couple of questions on this.


So in the column "years" you've got 2022 to 2024.  Can you please explain the significance of that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  So we launched that program in January of this year.  We entered discussions with the Independent Electric System Operator, probably started in, I would say December of 2020, and then spent most of 2021 engaging with them in discussions around how we could coordinate the delivery.


As you are aware, the Independent Electric System Operator does not have residential programs.  They only have the low-income programs.  So we saw this as a means of simplifying the delivery and coordinating the customer experience.


So we entered a collaborative effort where we followed the guidelines of issuing a joint RFP publicly for combined delivery agents and then agreed upon delivery agents that would service the province based on postal code.


So from -- it really is about a coordinated effort in going to market.  And if I could simplify, what a consumer sees or a community sees is one entity coming to talk about electricity and gas.


Once it is established whether the home is heated with gas or electricity behind the scenes, those programs are then -- or the applications are then given to the respective organizations that deal with them.  So if it was gas it would come to Enbridge; if it was electricity it would go to the Independent Electric System Operator.


So the process and -- the legal process between the two companies took quite a while.  So we finally finished the RFPs and the agreements in December of 2021, and it is a three-year program which aligns with the Independent Electric System Operator's funding.  We would hope to extend that should the government extend funding and program certainty for them.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  That is what I wanted to understand.  So the 2022 to 2024 reflects the funding and the partnership to date, and you are hoping it will extend beyond 2024.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's right.  The constraint is the IESO -- Independent Electric System Operator's funding framework.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then just in terms of the annual program spend, has that been determined yet?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  The intent here is, what we think will happen is it will be a coordinated approach and it focuses more on customer experience.


The budget that we have proposed should capture that.  We believe there will be some savings through administration costs, but we would still pick up any costs that were related to natural gas-heated homes.


So the focus was really about getting to the communities and the customer experience.  We're hoping to save some money on the administration, which will actually enable us to do more on incentives and get to more homes, but the bigger focus was really on the engagement and getting to the communities in a simplified manner.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And are your delivery agents in place?  I believe there was an IR that mentioned you hope to have them in place in early 2022.  Are they in place now?  Or is that something that is still being worked on?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  They are all in place.  So all the contracts were signed in December of 2021 so that they could start in January 1, and as well as the transition between existing delivery agents who were not successful in the RFP process, they have a transition plan which sees them out to about June of this year to make sure that there was a smooth transition and we didn't lose people who were already in the process.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, great.  Thank you very much.


Can we please now go to page 8 of the compendium.  I just want to talk about what was happening back in 2015 to 2020.


This table shows that from 2017 to 2020 there was co-delivery of the Enbridge winter-proofing program with the IESO Home Assistance Program.  That has now been -- the name has changed to the Energy Affordability Program.  You list the budgets there.  But I want to talk about the other two.


So in 2016 you had a partnership with Toronto Hydro where you co-delivered the Enbridge winter -- or home winter-proofing program, and you've got an annual program spend there of $4.5 million.


Can you just please talk about the status of that?  Was that a one year-only partnership?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.  So this was prior to the IESO assuming program responsibility and the change in funding for electric LDCs.


So the LDCs on the electricity side no longer have funding for these types of programs.  And that's why it was the one time.


MS. GRICE:  I see.  And then the same thing goes for Peterborough?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's right.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So in the new time frame of 2023 to 2027, we won't be seeing like these stand-alone partnerships, incremental partnerships with municipalities.  It will all be delivered through IESO.  Is that correct?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  From what we know today, if one of the LDCs had funding or was somehow able to come up with funding or another organization, we would always be interested in talking to others about partnering.


The advantage of having the Independent Electricity System Operator is that they cover the whole province.  So there's, you know, fifty to sixty LDCs.  It is much easier for us to coordinate with one entity than with multiple LDCs.  So we will see how it goes, but if somebody did come up with a program and wanted to talk to us, we would always be willing to talk about how that could work.


MS. GRICE:  And then is that something that you would report on as well, if you had sort of an incremental program that or an opportunity for partnership came along that you would report on that when you're doing your reporting on the program?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  About our collaboration?  People will always be talking about who we're collaborating with.


I think if we thought it was part of our existing program, we would, you know, because we do today and as we have done in the past, we would enter those collaborations and those agreements and we would start working on those programs as quickly as possible and inform everybody of the new collaboration.


If it was something brand new that we didn't have funding or it was a completely different way of looking at things, we would bring that to the Ontario Energy Board and have discussion because it would probably be outside much our current thinking and our current budget envelopes.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, great, that is very helpful.  Thank you very much.  I just have one last question and it relates to page 13 of the compendium, and this is an interrogatory from VECC.


And in the interrogatory, it is mentioned that the low-income TRC plus cost benefit ratio is 0.7 percent -- sorry, pardon me, 0.7.  And VECC asked if Enbridge Gas has reviewed lowering this thresholds of 0.7 for the low-income sector.


And in the response, Enbridge refers to a March 2021 low-income program stakeholder consultation where at that consultation, stakeholders commented that they were open to revisiting the screening threshold as part of this DSM plan proceeding, but that no further analysis was undertaken, and that this DSM plan does not include any recommended changes to the existing 0.7 low-income program TRC plus screening threshold.


So I am not advocating for a change.  I just wanted to hear from Enbridge and Enbridge's perspective, what the process would look like if Enbridge was to review the TRC plus ratio for low income.  Can you just walk me through -- I just want to understand the process, what analysis would need to be undertaken, that sort of thing.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Okay.  So we would start first of all -- so this would obviously be with stakeholders.  But to understand what is the driver, so are we trying to -- there's lots of drivers you could change in the low-income program.


So if you wanted to increase the health and safety budget for example, do you really need to change the TRC, like if that's the barrier you are trying to address, or if there is a measure that is not making it through or the portfolio is not -- there's too many projects not making it through that threshold, is it something we want to address that way.


So I think we would start by trying to understand the objective or the barrier we are trying to address.  Then if it is something that could be potentially addressed by a lower TRC, we would then look at what measures would be included, what that would mean in terms of funding, market potential, and what it would impact on the budget.


So you would have various scenarios of, you know, this is what it could look like if you were able to do a lower screen and you got more measures in, so you would have more M3s and with paying for all of those programs so there is no cost to participants, what would the budget requirement be or where would the constraint be.


So it would require some scenario analysis to determine, you know, how much it would cost and what that cost could look like, like what it would be paying for and does that meet the objective we are trying to solve by reducing them.  Does that help?


MS. GRICE:  That helps a lot.  Just in terms of in-house capability, is this something that Enbridge would do internally, or would you be required to hire an external consultant to assist with this analysis?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I think it would depend.  So we would have a lot of information I think, Ms. Grice, in terms of what we're seeing in the programs and different measures.


We would definitely be looking to see if there are, you know, measures that other jurisdictions might be doing that we haven't included that would qualify with a lower TRC and try to bring in as much of that technical information as we could so as not to reinvent the wheel, as they would say, in terms understanding the savings.


But I think we would get so far and then at that point we would definitely need to talk to stakeholders like yourself and others in this field to say, this is what it would look like and is this really addressing the concern.


So it would be a combination effect.  If it was a completely new widget that we know nothing about, we might need some third party technical support to help us, if we don't have that information in-house or we don't have the ability to get it.  But I think a lot of the data, we probably would have a good starting point in-house.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's great.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Now I believe that Environmental Defence has some questions they would like to ask.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  If I could ask Ms. Adams, please, to pull up the decision in the previous OEB -- sorry, the previous Ontario Energy Board decision in the demand side management case, and particularly page 50 which is now up on the screen.


I don't think this needs to be marked as an exhibit because it's a decision of the Board.  I only really have one question.


If we could scroll up a little bit so that we can see the text starting from the decision downwards.


I just have a question about Enbridge's understanding of this decision and whether it agrees with the facts as referenced in this decision.  I will read the first three paragraphs here, so we're all on the same page.  It says that:  

"The OEB finds that Union's large volume customers should be a part of Union's DSM programs.  The OEB was assisted by the evidence provided by Union and the expert witnesses.  The OEB benefited from the fuller evidentiary record produced in this proceeding, which was not available to the OEB at the time the DSM framework was established."


Mr. Fernandes, perhaps you can answer just an overview question so we understand the context here.


Back in this time period, I understand the large volume program was excluded from the 2016-2020 DSM framework, and the OEB decided on the basis of evidence in the hearing to reinstate that program.  Is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  That is my understanding, that it was optional.


MR. ELSON:  So I will continue reading the next two paragraphs and then I just have one quick question.

"Experience demonstrates that Union can achieve material savings through the continued delivery of its existing self-direct program, rather than a program providing only technical advice with no estimated gas savings.

"The DSM framework highlighted two concerns with mandated rate funded DSM for the large volume customer class.  First, the OEB was of the view that large volume customers would already be competitively motivated to ensure that their systems were efficient.  The OEB found the evidence of the expert witnesses, which was that large volume customers would not initiate all cost effective conservation if DSM programs similar to those offered until 2015 were not available, compelling.

"Furthermore, the expert evidence was that in jurisdictions which offered an 'opt-out' option, large volume customers did not actively pursue all available conservation and when given the opportunity to demonstrate that they had spent an equivalent amount of money on conservation, the large volume customers did not avail themselves of this option.


Submissions from parties also made it clear to the OEB that the lost opportunity for natural gas savings from this customer segment would be substantial."


Does Enbridge agree with the facts found by the OEB in this decision about the likelihood of decreased gas savings if the utility eliminated its large volume program, or created an opt-out option?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think this morning, when we had the discussion with Mr. Mondrow, that we stated that there was complexity from an opt-out option that would, you know, from a practical point of view render that infeasible from our point of view.


In terms of the evidence, you know, that was from the expert witness.  I am not sure if we can really definitively state that that is true or not, unless, you know, one of the other panel members would like to weigh in on that policy point of view.  I don't think I have the evidence to state that.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  If I could add, yes, the large-volume customers represent one-fifth, 20 percent, of the overall Enbridge Gas's consumption.  So that is pretty significant.  And we see significant savings by offering this program to those customers.


MR. ELSON:  That's a sufficient answer for me.  Thank you.  I have no more questions for this panel.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Elson.  Now I would like to hear from Pollution Probe.  Mr. Brophy, I believe.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  Can everybody hear me?  Yeah.  I see nodding.  Great.  Thank you.


My name is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  There is two questions that I had initially linked to panel 2, but with the changes over the last few days and the discussion this morning, I thought it would be more expedient just to take that time right now, so I will just jump into them very quickly.


So the first relates to some of the corporate reporting, and Mr. Mondrow had some examples in his compendium this morning.  I think they were Glencore and maybe ArcelorMittal, but there is also lots and lots of other companies out there that have published these kind of public climate reports and plans as well.  So I will just use those as an example.


And I believe at least some of the panel members were also in the OEB's IRP proceeding where we talked about this issue in detail and the link between IRP DSM and climate change initiatives.


And if you may recall, the VP for Enbridge indicated that, you know, the driver for Enbridge to do a report like Mr. Mondrow pulled up for other companies was that -- and the net zero commitment was to -- because investors are demanding it.  Do you remember that?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I do.


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Yes, I do.


MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thank you.  Yeah.  So you have public climate reports by the VP at Enbridge or the ones IGUA brought up, and again, there is many more out there, appear to be more focused on investors and the PR kind of angle, that usually a place that companies like Glencore or ArcelorMittal or Enbridge or others would look to at a high level -- I think those were global plans this morning -- highlight what they're trying to do to meet climate commitments.


And it jumped out to me that those wouldn't be the types of reports where companies would, you know, talk about their supplier programs like the Enbridge DSM program.


Am I picking that up correctly?  Or do you think that those kind of global climate reports are places where they should be adding your DSM program support?


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chairman, I would like to interject, please.  It is Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Go ahead, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The reason I interject, Mr. Chairman, is because both Mr. Elson and Mr. Brophy added their five minutes to the panel 1 program following my cross-examination.  Clearly they have an issue with large-volume customers being included or not being included in DSM programs; fair enough.


Mr. Elson asked some questions on the facts, got the answers.  Mr. Brophy is putting to Enbridge's witnesses characterization of third-party reports.  He is not asking for any facts.  He is asking them for their opinion on what ArcelorMittal, Glencore, and other companies intend or don't intend by their reports.  I don't think the witnesses can answer those questions.


And I am concerned with the witnesses being asked to characterize the reports of, frankly, my clients that were introduced and questioned about factually this morning.


MR. BROPHY:  So maybe I can address that in a simpler way.  Those, I think, were public reports, and Mr. Mondrow mentioned that, you know, he even struggled with some of the names of those companies from their reports, but I will just ask the panel, is it surprising to you that details on the Enbridge DSM programs weren't specifically outlined in those reports?


MR. FERNANDES:  I am not -- Mr. Brophy, in the context of this proceeding, you know, there was a number of reports.  We didn't have time to go through them in detail.  I don't think we can positively or negatively confirm what you are asking.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  That is fair enough.  A lot of material had been filed, and I think Mr. Mondrow indicated his compendium was filed in the last few days, so fair enough that you haven't gone through those reports.


I guess it is fair enough to say that you haven't had a chance to review those, and in relation to whether -- how they relate to your DSM programs then.  Is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Well, given they are multinational corporations, I guess I could say I wouldn't be surprised, but I don't know what weight I would put on that.


MR. BROPHY:  Great, okay.  Fair enough.  So the second question I had -- and I am just going to ask Bonnie to pull up Exhibit I.13.EG.PP.41, attachment 1, page 9 -- and I can read that again if she needs.  Perfect.  Thank you.


So if we just go down to the table.  So this is a report that was filed by Enbridge in response to interrogatory answers.  It is a spillover report on net-to-gross ratios.  And I believe the panel would be familiar.  They would be the ones that filed it.


So if I can just ask the panel to confirm that that report that is on the screen relates to spillover, which is additional savings that come from DSM projects and programs, other than, you know, what's captured in the Enbridge and DSM reporting.


Is that a fair characterization of spillover?


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, your question sounded like it changed part-way through.  I think that is perhaps a fair characterization of spillover.  The report itself, though, is a net-to-gross study of which spillover was a component.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yeah, absolutely.  Thank you for the clarification.


So if you look on this table, it tells you back then it was EDG legacy and Union legacy, but at the bottom they're combined in a total.  So this includes the large-volume customers as well as other similar ones that were included in the report and assessment.


If you look at the bottom, the total of the elements for spillover is 10 percent and 5 percent that are applied.  Do you see that?


MR. JOHNSON:  I do.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the total of that would be 15 percent additional savings that come from customers like large-volume through the help that Enbridge does in its DSM programs beyond what you are claiming.  That sounds right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  So the only thing I would say is I don't recall the details of this report specifically, so I don't know if spillover was -- from the looks of it, it was only captured at a high level, not at an individual level.  But absolutely, certainly we believe spillover is an important component if that is what you are asking.


MR. BROPHY:  Great, yes, thank you.  Yes.  And when I read the report what they tried to do, some -- it looks like is do it at a detailed level, but then bring it up to the buckets that were appropriate for the OEB to apply, I think.  So that ended up in the 10 and the 5 percent.


So if I look at that, that is 15 percent.  I know Mr. Mondrow had questioned the legitimacy of the 15 percent OEB adder for environmental benefits.  But even if you were to assume there were zero environmental benefits in that OEB adder, which I certainly wouldn't support, when you add on the extra 15 percent from things like spillover, wouldn't it be very comforting to the Board, do you think, to know that these savings estimates are very conservative in relation to what -- into what is being put forward?


MR. FERNANDES:  I am not sure that we're getting that level of spillover in our measured results today, but Mr. Johnson will probably be able to confirm.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  I was just going to say I think that is a very complicated answer for exactly the reason that Mr. Fernandes indicated.


So, you know, if you look at our more recent spillover measurement as Mr. Fernandes indicated, it is smaller.  I mean certainly the company would be of the opinion that that number is larger, so that I don't know that that is a fair comparison given, you know, the numbers that we have today independent of whether or not we think those numbers should be higher.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Fair enough.  The numbers could be different today.  They could be higher or lower than the 15 percent.  One of the things we planned for panel 2, but we decided to drop and address here, we were going to propose that the 15 percent OEB adder actually is very conservative and there's other things like this that when you start to add them up should be increased.


So, you know, given the amount of issues on the table we decided to drop that as a request and just leave it at 15 percent.  But, you know, when you look at some of these factors, do you think that there's a basis for the OEB to consider all of these elements and potentially revise upward the 15 percent adder in ...


MR. JOHNSON:  So I would treat those as very different things, at least in my opinion, Mr. Brophy.


Spillover is an attempt to measure the influence of our programs on, as you sort of indicated, non-participants.


Again, I think we -- the company believes it is very important to try to measure that accurately, recognizing it is something that is very difficult to measure.


The adder is a separate and distinct piece that tries to capture TRC benefits.  So I view them as very separate and distinct things.


Again, if we can measure spill over correctly, I don't believe it should influence the 15 percent adder.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And is it correct you don't, you know, if you assume the 15 percent or even if it was less than 15 percent on spillover today, you don't add at that to your results today, do you?  You ignore it?


MR. JOHNSON:  We do have a measurement of spillover which is included in the calculation of net-to-gross.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks.  That is the clarifications I wanted.  Thank you.


MR. JOHNSON:  Mr. Fernandes, I cut you off.  Did you want to add something?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  I just wanted to make sure that it was clear that the measurement of spillover is part of net-to-gross.  So it is measures the company's impact or influence on the programs.  Whereas the 15 percent adder for the TRC plus test which is adding to avoided costs for things that may be difficult to measure, and it's clearly an aggregation and an estimate, because trying to measure, you know, a number of items that go into that, it's easier to just use a gross adjustment factor as the origin in my understanding of that they're very different and distinct things.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  That is the only questions I had.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  Before we have redirect from Enbridge, I would ask the panel members if they have any questions.  Commissioner Moran?

Questions by the Board:


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  I think this is going to be directed to Mr. Ariyalingam.


Just by way of context, the existing framework for DSM was one that was established in 2015, correct?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  2016.


MR. MORAN:  2016.  It has been extended into 2021 and now 2022 pending this decision, right?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Correct.


MR. MORAN:  Then you have 37 large volume customers in your large volume program.  So starting in 2019, the first emission year for carbon pricing purposes, we now are into the third year, I think, for emission reporting purposes and compliance purposes under first the federal program for large emitters and subsequently under the Ontario program that is replacing that.


Do you happen to know offhand how many of those 37 customers are subject to the Ontario emissions performance standards program, EPS?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  All 37 customers are considered large emitters.  So they're either subject to the EPS or the -- or previously the SCPP, they all carbon pricing program as well.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so in addition to the carbon price that's been introduced over the last couple of years, there's also the recent increase in the cost of gas itself.


Would you be able to, in terms of orders of magnitude, compare the combination of carbon pricing and price increase as an incentive to become more efficient against the offering of your large volume program?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Can you repeat that question, Mr. Commissioner?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  If you look at the carbon pricing and the recent increase in the cost of gas as providing an incentive to become more efficient in having to use natural gas, how would the magnitude of that price signal compare to the magnitude of the offering that you have for your large volume program?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Could we confer?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. FERNANDES:  How do we get to the room?


MR. JANIGAN:  I think you are put in a breakout room by Ms. Ing.


MS. ING:  Just one second.


MR. FERNANDES:  Oh, thank you.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  It is Mr. Ariyalingam here.  So when we look at it, the value is much greater, but the value of the program is not just the incentive.  It is about the assistance that -- not just the incentives.  It is about the assistance that -- not just the incentives, it is about the assistance that we provide to the plant and the maintenance folks as well.


MR. JOHNSON:  Mr. Moran -- or Commissioner Moran, I believe you are on mute.


MR. MORAN:  That was inevitable.


[Laughter]


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So given the incentive that is -- the larger incentive associated with the combination of the carbon price and the commodity price versus the incentive from the large-volume program, how are you able to distinguish if the behaviour change that occurred was actually attributable to your program versus the two price signals that we just mentioned?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  Again, as I mentioned before, the customers value the input of our expert technical account managers, they provide industry perspective, they share best practices, and they support project adoption.


So they work hand in hand with the plant and maintenance folks to identify, quantify, track, and implement energy efficiency projects.


So sometimes when even customers thought, you know, there is the -- there's a project not on the table, our technical account managers were able to identify and add value to them.


MR. MORAN:  All right.


MR. FERNANDES:  I think, Mr. Commissioner, Mr. Johnson might be able to add some detail, if you are looking to talk about the actual evaluation process, which is actually run with an independent consultant through OEB Staff, if you were looking at how we actually measure and record results for the purposes of the scorecard.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So I can certainly add to that, that that description I would say is sort of how we influence, whereas I think your question was at least in part asking how we measure that influence.  And as Mr. Fernandes indicated, there is an OEB-led evaluation process that would measure the net-to-gross ratio which would measure the impact of our programs, which projects were influenced by the company and which ones weren't, and the company would only get credit for the projects for which we influenced through that evaluation process.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  I have one question then for Ms. Van Der Paelt, and it relates to the total resource cost plus screening threshold that you referred to for the low-income programming at 0.7.


Just directionally, if that threshold value was to be reduced, for example, to .6, like, what would that mean for the -- directionally for the low-income offerings?


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So directionally it would mean that we would be able to reach more participants or deliver more measures to the participants.


I don't know exactly what the budgetary impacts of that would be, but I assume it would have an increased -- there would be an increase in budget to get those additional results because it would increase what we could actually attract or put through the program.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Commissioner Zlahtic, do you have any questions?


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I found the unmute button.  Yes, I do.  I just have a couple of questions.  And I think they're probably best directed to Mr. Ariyalingam.  How are you, sir?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  I am doing good, Mr. Commissioner.  How are you doing?


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I'm just fine.  Question for you.  With respect to your 37 large industrial programs under the program that Mr. Mondrow was questioning you about this morning, when you -- do you do an individual reach-out engagement with these customers in terms of explaining what the programs are, what the costs are, and the implications for their rates prior to designing the program and proposing it before the OEB?


MR. ARIYALINGAM:  We have done that this time before the filing.  When the OEB-led consultation concluded on December 1st, 2020 and before the filing date, we have engaged those customers.  Within the limited time we had, we connected with as many customers as possible.


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any further questions, Commissioner Zlahtic?


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I'm sorry.  I thought my muting myself...


[Laughter]


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I'm sorry.  No, no further questions.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I don't have any questions for this panel.  Do you have any redirect, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  No, I do not.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel, for your answers to the questions, and Mr. O'Leary, I wonder if you could introduce your next panel.


MR. O'LEARY:  I would be happy to do that.  I am wondering whether we can take five minutes to try and get replacements on our panel.  I think you're -- sorry, you are on mute, sir.


MR. JANIGAN:  I just did the opposite of what I am supposed to do.


Yes, that's fine.  Let's take a five-minute break to 2053.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.


MR. JANIGAN:  Not a 20-minute break, a five-minute break to 20 -- to 2:53.


MR. O'LEARY:  That is what we heard, I think.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good heavens.  Okay, thanks.

--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:52 p.m.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, Mr. O'Leary, are you ready with your panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  I am, Mr. Chair, thank you.  My apologies for causing any delay whatsoever.  Normally, as you know, we would have the panel sitting in the back of the room.


MR. JANIGAN:  That's right.


MR. O'LEARY:  I know they're there, but in this case they're ten miles away, so I am kind of hoping they show up.


If I could introduce the two new panellists, up in my right hand corner is Mr. Jim Dunstan.  Jim has been an employee of the company for 19 years and currently is in the DSM group as senior advisor of energy conservation, strategy and policy.  In this role, Jim is responsible for policy oversight for programs impacting the residential part nine housing is he Toronto.


In this capacity, Jim is responsible for the proposed design of residential building beyond code program.  In addition, he supports the proposed designs of the commercial and affordable housing building beyond code program.


And in the middle on the left-hand side of my screen, we have Ms. Allison Moore, who has been an employee of the company for 14 years.  She is currently in the DSM group as supervisor of residential energy conservation.  In this role, Ms. Moore is responsible for the management and oversight of the residential program, as well as the design of the proposed residential program.


In her capacity, she ensures that the program is designed to meet the needs of Enbridge's residential customers.


So with that, may I ask Mr. Moran that these witnesses also be sworn.


MR. MORAN:  Yes, welcome Ms. Moore and Mr. Dunstan.  You are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you're telling us the truth and the law requires you to do so.


Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this.  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth.  Ms. Moore?


MS. MOORE:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Dunstan?


MR. DUNSTAN:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under the law, Ms. Moore?


MS. MOORE:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Dunstan?


MR. DUNSTAN:  I do.


MR. MORAN:  Thanks very much.

ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 2

Allison Moore, 

Jim Dunstan, Affirmed;

Tom Grochmal,

Craig Fernandes, Previously Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could just ask Ms. Moore and Mr. Dunstan a couple of questions, and I will ask each of you to respond to it at the end.


Can you confirm that the pre filed evidence in the areas that this proceeding is going to deal with, that you have been responsible for, the interrogatory responses on that evidence, any related reply evidence, any answers to technical conference undertakings, and any evidence given on the presentation day, was it prepared by you or at your direction?  First, Ms. Moore?


MS. MOORE:  Confirmed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Dunstan?


MR. DUNSTAN:  Confirmed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you both adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?  Ms. Moore?


MS. MOORE:  I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Dunstan?


MR. DUNSTAN:  I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, I have some very brief examination in-chief for Mr. Grochmal that arises predominantly out of the materials and discussion at the presentation day.


So if I could ask you, Mr. Grochmal -- and I am going to refer to the specific pages of the transcript just for the purposes of the record.  Mr. Elson, on behalf of ED during the presentation by ED on page 59 of the transcript, stated the company is proposing zero dollars on all electrical climate heat pumps.


I understand that you have some concerns about this statement, and would like an opportunity to clarify what it is that the company is proposing.


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, thanks, Mr. O'Leary.  I guess what I would like to clarify is that it is important to understand sort of in this conversation about heat pumps that a cold climate heat pump does not necessarily mean in all energy systems.


Cold climate heat pumps, they can perform well at lower temperatures.  But for most homes, it will still require backup heating when the heat pump is no longer able to meet the home heating conditions.


This need for a backup is acknowledged by Natural Resources Canada.  In 2020, they put together a sizing and collection data for heat pumps and Dr. McDiarmid, in her presentation at page 61 of the transcript, confirmed her cost-effectiveness modelling included energy use for electric resistance backup which is, you know, in the all-electric case, that is what you would be relying on.


Now, the fact is that cold climate heat pumps can be paired with backup furnaces to achieve similar efficiencies.  And you know, maybe this is in support to this Dr. McDiarmid provided an undertaking response, JT3.8 -- and maybe, Bonnie, if you could flip that up, it might be helpful -- which was a response to a request from the company for her to provide a list -- pardon me for a second -- a list of cold climate heat pumps that are above HSP of ten, so like a very high efficiency for typical home sizes.


In response, you have this list in front of you here and it is based on what is eligible for the federal Greener Homes grant rebate.


All I really want to point out is what this list shows is a list of cold climate heat pumps.  You can see that under column I, where it talks about that product grouping.  That is what that acronym refers to.  But what you see with a lot of these combinations actually when you look at the left-hand column, column B, it talks about a furnace model that can be matched with an inside model and an outside model.  And what it is really implying there is a lot of what is on this list as far as cold climate heat pumps they have gas backups; in other words, they're hybrid heating systems.


I just want to be clear about is that Enbridge's low carbon transition program supports cold climate electric heat pumps as part of hybrid heating systems.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Grochmal, why do you say that this is something that is important that you want to draw the Ontario Energy Board's panel attention to?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah.  The reason it is important is because Mr. Elson stated during the presentation last week that the company is excluding support for all electric heating.  In essence, what we're really debating about is the backup system.


The company is suggesting high efficiency gas furnace and Environmental Defence is proposing electric resistance backup.


Arguably, this backup is not providing incremental efficiency over 95 percent gas furnace, especially when you consider the efficiency losses of producing that added electricity on a cold winter day when you need it, which would come from gas-fired generation.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And can you tell us what it is more specifically that the company is proposing relative to what Environmental Defence and their consultant EFG are recommending?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, for sure.  So Environmental Defence and Energy Futures Group have basically recommended that Enbridge Gas should exclusively qualify cold climate air source heat pumps in its low carbon transition program and nothing of lesser performance.


And Enbridge has proposed a slightly lower minimum efficiency option for homeowners for a couple of key reasons.  The first one is really to make the program more inclusive for the manufacturing community.  This will allow for a wide range of systems with different costs to participate in the offer.


And just for example, most of the cold climate heat pumps on this list that is in front of you, the vast majority of them are actually produced by one company.


Second, to offer lower cost products that can more quickly get us to the point that hybrid heating systems can be cost effective.  That is the other benefit of slightly loosening eligibility in order to be more inclusive of the industry.


Third, I just want to say the hybrid systems and eventually gas heat pumps that the company proposes to offer for both existing gas customers and future, it gives the customer just the option of choosing the heat system they consider best.


What Dr. McDiarmid does not acknowledge is for many customers, whether existing or potentially new, they consider other options as well in their fuel choices, not just space and water heating.  They may be considering the barbeque, the  gas fireplace, cooking equipment and gas dryers.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Elson, at page 68 of the transcript on the presentation day referenced the mandate letter from the government dated November 2021 from the Minister of Energy, that indicated support for consumers making the right choices regardless of whether that is through more efficient gas or electric equipment.


The suggestion Mr. Elson was making is that Enbridge is not demonstrating fuel neutrality in the context of that Ministerial direction.


Do you have a response to his suggestion?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I did have a bit of a concern.  I want to clarify that the company agrees it is important to help customers make the right choices depending on --regardless of whether that is through more efficient gas or electric equipment.


And that is because there is no one size fits all solution or, in this case, one fuel fits all if you could put it that way.


It is also consistent with federal government direction.  The Canadian government which is coordinating the overall transformation of space and water heating in the Canadian marketplace is asking utilities to step up and support more efficient gas and electric equipment.


And that is exactly what we're proposing to do with the low carbon transition program.  I will just explain just quickly kind of how we're doing it.  Number one, we are providing incentives for electric heat pumps, and that is through hybrid heating.  We are also offering incentives for gas heat pumps, and this is in line with the mandate letter.


So it is important to realize that also the incentive budget for low-carbon program, it is split 50-50 between gas and electric equipment.


Number two, we intend to add more measures as this program matures.  It is customary with the management of DSM programs to add measures.  One example that I will just point to just based on the success we have had so far in the market with deploying hybrid heating systems is to look at hybrid rooftop units to support the small-volume commercial market, and that is currently a focus of our research and innovation efforts.


So while there are many heat-pump solutions out there, Enbridge's approach to support gas heat pumps and hybrid heating right now is the appropriate focus.  The reason is simple.  Customers need plug-and-play solutions, as I call it, for traditional gas equipment like furnaces and boilers -- that is, being codified to higher levels -- and that is what you get with hybrid heating and gas heat pumps.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Grochmal.  Just one further little question.  Mr. Wasylyk on behalf of OEB Staff stated at page 48 of the presentation day that the proposed low-carbon transition program that incentivizes heat-pump installation to bring significant attention to gas and hybrid heat-pump systems is prolonging the reliance on natural-gas usage.


Do you have a response to that statement?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.  I disagree with the assertion.  I mean, hybrid heating does not prolong reliance on natural gas.  In fact, it is pulling forward beneficial electrification that would not happen as quickly otherwise, because we are incentivizing the installation of electric heat pumps.


So by offering incentives for gas and electric heat pumps, which is again what we're proposing to do, we are leaving it to the customer to consider what is best for them overall, given the attendant costs and their preferences, so maybe I will leave it at that, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Grochmal.  I have just one further question.  This one is to you, Mr. Fernandes.


I wonder if I could ask Bonnie to go to Exhibit L, Staff 2, page 6.  That's great.  So it is hard to tell if it's the second or third paragraph, but it is the second paragraph on the page that I see.  


If I could just read this.  This is a paragraph that is in the Optimal Energy report number 2.  And Optimal states at page 6 that:

"Massachusetts program has been successful at driving significant participation and deep savings.  Eversource in Ma saved 48,182 lifetime cubic metres per participant in its program in 2020 compared to 12,404 cubic metres for Enbridge Gas."


Enbridge Gas ultimately asked an interrogatory response and received an acknowledgement back from Optimal that in fact they should have been referring to NationalGrid, not Eversource, but that is not the issue.  We don't want to make that an issue.


But during the technical conference, the witnesses for Optimal were asked at page 140 of the transcripts whether or not they were attempting to demonstrate that the U.S. utility was more successfully achieving results relative to Enbridge.  And the response at that same page was, in quotes:

"It was an example of a specific number, yes."


They were then asked if they were trying to demonstrate there was a significant gap between what Enbridge is doing and what NationalGrid was doing, and the witnesses responded, and again I quote:

"Based on these numbers there's a gap and, yes, that's why we said it."


Now, in the technical conference they were taken to an exhibit marked as KT3.2.  I am wondering, Bonnie, if you could bring that up, please.  And my apologies.  There was some misdescription.  You've got the right one.


The record may refer to this as KT3.2.  I think it is listed differently in the transcripts, but this is the correct one.  It is the one-page table which has 3-EGI-9-OEB.Staff.2 in the top left.


And I am wondering, Mr. Fernandes, with the use of this, can you offer the company's perspective on what Optimal said and your findings following your investigations?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, I can, Mr. O'Leary.  The reference to information on the table, when sorted and filtered as per Optimal Energy's instructions, it shows both the planned and the actual, which on the table is listed as evaluated results for different program years.


It appears that Optimal Energy used the actual data of 4,810 participants for 2019, which, when you review the planned numbers and the actual numbers for '19 and '20, is obviously an aberration.


To confirm, the company contacted NationalGrid directly, and they kindly confirmed via e-mail that the data source is, in fact, incorrect.  The correct number is closer to 37,000 participants, in keeping with the planned number, and also with the actuals for 2020 shown in the table.


If the Optimal Energy calculation is redone with the 32,907 shown for 2020, then the savings is about 7,000 lifetime m3 per participant.  If you use the 37,000 directly provided by NationalGrid, then the savings were 62, 63 lifetime m3 per participant.


Both of these values are substantially lower than the company's 12,404 for participant.  So we note caution is required when performing simple comparisons to other jurisdictions without vigilance in the review, as the conclusions drawn can actually be polar opposites from reality if done incorrectly, as the situation clearly demonstrates.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  Those are my questions in-chief.  The panel is now open for cross-examination.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  I believe the first party to cross-examine the witnesses will be Environmental Defence.  I would advise Mr. Elson that we would probably like to take a break in the afternoon at 3:30.  So if that is convenient for you at that time, that would be suitable for us.


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Janigan, it is Michael Brophy.  I just had a quick clarification question, if I was able to ask.


MR. JANIGAN:  Certainly.


MR. BROPHY:  So in the evidence in-chief there was a lot of numbers.  It's been very hard to kind of follow what Mr. O'Leary just walked through with Mr. Fernandes.


I am wondering if Enbridge would be willing to file the material they referenced, the e-mail kind of calling out the corrections, and hopefully we can take that away and at least kind of follow what they just went through.  It was difficult for me to follow, even as an engineer.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. O'Leary, would you -- can you address that?


MR. O'LEARY:  I can, sir.  The table that you saw that had the numbers on it is actually an exhibit, and therefore Mr. Brophy can certainly have access to it.  And what Mr. Fernandes simply did was, number one, refer to the previous-year participants as being one option.  And the second was to simply indicate that the information he received from NationalGrid is that the participant level was closer to 37,000.


That doesn't seem to be too onerous in terms of the numbers to require us to start pulling e-mails between the two parties.


So we would submit that is not necessary, but if needed we will.


MR. BROPHY:  Yes, so just the e-mail confirming that the data -- or, you know, the data was wrong or that it is correct.  Just that e-mail I think is sufficient.  I am not looking for a whole -- if it went back and forth ten times, I don't need all ten e-mails.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm sorry, are you saying that you do not accept the evidence of Mr. Fernandes as being correct, Mr. Brophy?


MR. BROPHY:  No.  I am just looking for the document from NationalGrid.


MR. O'LEARY:  And how does that assist?


MR. FERNANDES:  I was going to ask to clarify there, because the calculations that we just went through, you know, originally Optimal Energy used a divisor of 4,810, and we just changed that divisor to either the 32,907 -- which was directly in the information that they referenced -- or, you know, as another sample used the 37,000.


So the math is fairly simple, and I would be happy to put that together for you, Mr. Brophy, in a short e-mail, and we could submit that.  But it is really just taking a number and dividing it -- backing out their division and then adding the correct divider.


MR. BROPHY:  The reason I ask is it is just, you know, we're going to have Optimal up in the future.  We will be asking them questions and we've run in before points in time where people are referencing different things, either from websites, documents, e-mail conversations and, you know, if we have something on record, in the public record that indicates what the latest info is, then everyone can, you know, refer to that, that exhibit.


MR. JANIGAN:  Perhaps just arising at, with Mr. Fernandes' submission.  I wonder if he could produce an undertaking just simply with those computations.


And if there is some written record of these computations being confirmed by the other source, that would be helpful to produce as well, I would assume.


I would assume that Optimal will have to address that in the context of its evidence.  So if you could have the undertaking and the e-mail, I think that would be sufficient.


MR. O'LEARY:  We would be happy to give that undertaking, Mr. Janigan.  I might just add though at the technical conference, the request was actually being put to Optimal for them to confirm the numbers and there was a lot of opposition to that.


So now to allow them to do the very thing they refused to do before seems a little odd, but I -- we're happy to do the undertaking, sir.


MR. JANIGAN:  I assume that you might want to put that question again to Optimal when they testify.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE COMPUTATIONS AND E-MAIL FROM OPTIMAL


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Elson?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  Can you hear me all right?


MR. JANIGAN:  We can, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, okay.  I would like to start a little bit off my script here with some questions to Mr. Grochmal, starting with JT3.8 -- and if, Ms. Adams, you could pull that up, that would be very much appreciated.


Mr. Grochmal, I believe that you said that the vast majority of equipment in accordance with this undertaking response was made by just one company.  And I would just like to confirm -- and maybe you missed this -- that the list that you were referring to, according to the last paragraph in this undertaking response, does not include all units available in the Canadian market, and that NR Canada has a broader list of units available in the Canadian market online, but that in the time it wasn't possible to determine which ones could be attached to central ducting.


Are you aware of that, Mr. Grochmal?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah, I raid that statement.  I am aware of that, Mr. Elson.


MR. ELSON:  And are you familiar with there being three tonne or higher units that have HSPF or higher from Mitsubishi, Fujitsu, or Blue Bear for example?


MR. GROCHMAL:  I think they're on that list that Dr. McDiarmid provided.


MR. ELSON:  I thought you said there was only one company and I have just named three more.


MR. GROCHMAL:  I can clarify if you'd like.  I think my words were that the majority of those line items on the list provided come from one company.  So our review of that list was that -- I think there's a couple of line items around those names you mentioned.  But most of the line items are for two other brands with essentially -- which are owned under the same company.  So that is what I am referring to.


MR. ELSON:  And that is of the list of 153, is that right?


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's right.


MR. ELSON:  I think you said you wanted to give customers the option of the system that they consider best.


But my understanding is that Enbridge will be providing incentives only if your heat pump is backed up by a gas furnace, and will not be providing any incentives if a customer considers the all electric option to be best for them.  Is that fair to say?


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yeah.  I think that is a fair statement, Mr. Elson.


MR. FERNANDES:  Actually, Mr. Elson, I think the reason is because the purpose of the program is targeting customers when they're replacing their air conditioner.


So the furnace isn't being replaced.  So it's a consequence of us targeting our gas customers.  So I don't think it is necessarily the way you portrayed it.


MR. ELSON:  Well, Mr. Fernandes, it is still true that you are not providing any incentives to people who consider all electric options to be the best.  Correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's not the target of the program.


MR. ELSON:  With respect to a customer who replaces their air conditioner with a hybrid heat pump and when their gas furnace then goes out, Mr. Grochmal, will they be able to replace that gas furnace with an electric air handler backup, or there they have to buy another gas furnace to be compatible with their air source heat pump?


MR. GROCHMAL:  I think customers will have -- they will have the choice to do what they want when their furnace breaks down, in which case they can replace a furnace with an air handler with electric as a backup that could be compatible with their outdoor unit.


MR. ELSON:  But you would agree there are compatibility issues to take that additional next step.  Is that fair to say, Mr. Grochmal.


MR. GROCHMAL:  There might be compatibility issues, but I believe the customers would still have options.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am going to go back to my original intended starting point, which is not on heat pumps and are more contextual questions around the benefits and costs of energy efficiency.


Ms. Adams, if you wouldn't mind, if I could share my screen then I can point to the specific items that I am referring to.  So I will put that up right now.


This is the Environmental Defence compendium.  If I could start by having this marked as an exhibit.


MR. MURRAY:  It will be Exhibit K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Elson, just to let you know your audio is getting a little bit garbley again.


MR. ELSON:  Okay, that's good to know.  How is it now?


MR. MURRAY:  Still garbley.


MR. JANIGAN:  Usually what that is a result of the microphone rubbing against something like a tie or something like that.  Is that...


MR. ELSON:  You know, I think it must be a new issue because it hasn't been like this for two years.  So it must be an equipment issue.  I can swap it out at the break.  So we can either take a break now and I can swap it out, or if it is all right to hobble along I can continue as is.  I am in your hands, Commissioner Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  It might be an idea to swap it out.  It is a little bit distracting.  So why don't we take a break now until -- come back at 3:35.


MR. ELSON:  Excellent.


MR. JANIGAN:  Does that give you enough time?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, excellent.  Thanks very much.

--- Recess taken at 3:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:34 p.m.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Elson, you are ready with your sophisticated new setup?


MR. ELSON:  I am.  It is the same as the old one but newer.


[Laughter]


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Go ahead.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan and the panel, for your patience.


On the screen is our compendium.  I believe this was just marked as Exhibit K1.7. 


MR. ELSON:  I am now on page 3 of the Environmental Defence compendium, and you will see a table showing the costs and net benefits of the 2023 investments.


So these are based on the total resource cost test.  Correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.  The TRC plus.


MR. ELSON:  And looking at the first highlighted figure in the column of figures -- and I will zoom in near the bottom -- this shows that the gross benefits from the 2023 DSM investments are more than half-a-billion dollars.  Correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Were you going to respond, Mr. Johnson, or shall I?


MR. JOHNSON:  Just a quick comment, Mr. Elson.  You said gross there.  Did you just mean in the context of the magnitude of it, or did you mean that gross versus net from a TRC point of view?


MR. ELSON:  I mean gross versus net, because this is the benefits and these are the net benefits, and I am looking at the benefits before we produced the costs.  That is what I mean by gross.


MR. JOHNSON:  Ah, okay.


MR. ELSON:  And so that half-a-billion dollars, that is mostly via saved gas.  Is that fair to say?  Avoided gas costs?


MR. JOHNSON:  My vague recollection is probably about two-thirds of the avoided gas cost, if that is what you are asking, of those benefits.


MR. ELSON:  And there are also other avoided costs, including avoided carbon costs, avoided electricity costs, avoided water costs, fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  So you could say mostly avoided resource costs?


MR. JOHNSON:  As opposed to?  I mean, as Mr. Fernandes indicated, it's the plus.  So the 15 percent adder would also be included in here.


MR. ELSON:  Got it, yes.  And typically these benefits mean you can keep your home warmer or your business operating with less gas.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  I think that is fair.


MR. ELSON:  And from a business perspective, this improves your productivity, because you can produce the same amount of outputs with fewer inputs.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I would define productivity a little bit differently, but given your definition I think that is fair.


MR. ELSON:  And this table has already been adjusted or reduced to exclude free ridership, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  As I thought you were perhaps alluding to earlier, these are -- the TRC plus benefits are net benefits.


MR. ELSON:  Got it.


MR. JOHNSON:  Net of free riders.


MR. ELSON:  Good point.  And so these are the best estimates of the savings actually appropriately attributable to Enbridge programs, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So the only thing is -- and sorry, I've got -- I'm not sure when this was updated for.  I know there has been an adjustment.  But, yes, barring potentially an adjustment made as a result of the correction, yes, and I don't think that adjustment was material relative to the total size of this.


MR. ELSON:  Got it.


MR. FERNANDES:  I was just going to note, that adjustment would take your net benefits from 372 down to 364.  But I think it won't really change most of what I believe you are going to go through, Mr. Elson.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  That is helpful.


And when this programming is done, the outcomes go through a formal and rigorous process to evaluate and verify the savings.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so the 500 million or half-a-billion dollars in benefits here, this does not include spin-off benefits such as jobs, economic growth, and government revenue arising from energy efficiency.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  So I guess what I would say to that is, it depends on what you consider to be included in that 15 percent adder.  I believe it was intended to capture a number of benefits, you know.  Of the ones you just listed, I'm not sure if some of those were intended to be captured or not.


MR. ELSON:  My understanding is that they were not.  Mr. Fernandes, do you have a comment on that?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think it would be very similar to Mr. Johnson, because you said "a number of items such as", so it depends on what those number of items are and it also depends on what the intent of the 15 percent adder.  I can't recall explicitly what is included in it and what is not.


MR. ELSON:  Let's talk about jobs and economic growth.  They're not included in the 15 percent adder.  The 15 percent adder is really customer focus benefits.  For example, you get nicer windows when you upgrade your windows.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  I honestly don't recall, Mr. Elson, what was -- off the top of my head what was included.  It was supposed to be non-energy benefits.  What you are describing could be considered a non-energy benefit.


Certainly I would say --


MR. ELSON:  Why don't you take that away --


MR. JOHNSON:  Sure, sorry, I was just going to say certainly, you know, there is no way it could have quantified everything, if that is the intent of your question.


MR. ELSON:  We can ask Mr. Neme to clarify his knowledge, but before we get there, could you provide an undertaking to confirm whether the 15 percent adder was intended to include jobs and economic growth?


MR. JOHNSON:  I can take that away on a best-efforts basis --


MR. ELSON:  That's fine.


MR. JOHNSON:  -- on what we have knowledge of.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J1.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE 15 PERCENT ADDER WAS INTENDED TO INCLUDE JOBS AND ECONOMIC GROWTH.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so when efficiency programs have avoided, say, half-a-billion dollars in commodity costs or $400 million in commodity costs, those dollars would otherwise be leaving the province because we import almost all of our gas.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  I believe that's true.  I'm not an expert in that area.  I'm not sure, Mr. Fernandes, if you have better knowledge than I there.


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe that to be the case, but, you know, Mr. Johnson mentioned that a portion of it, a substantial portion, is not.  But there is still expenditures.


So, you know, I believe that's part of our primary objective, is to save customers money on their bills, right?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And a part of the jobs and growth benefits are stopping money leaving the province and keeping it in our economy, and I think by part of that undertaking you will be confirming whether that would be included in the 15 percent net benefits.  So let me move on to another area.


Most of these benefits will be arising in future years, this half-a-billion dollars.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And the Enbridge average weighted measure life is about 16 years, subject to check?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I believe there is an undertaking, and that number sounds familiar, but I could take it subject to check.


MR. ELSON:  So the half-a-billion dollars in savings is spread out over those 16 years, but it is expressed here as a net present value figure.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  So it has already been discounted by 4 percent, plus an additional 2 percent of inflation.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Roughly, yeah.  I believe it is 6.08 percent is the combined value.


MR. ELSON:  And so the undiscounted lifetime savings would actually be higher, and before discounting I come to the value of roughly $700 million in benefits.  Does that sound about right to you?  And if not, could you undertake to provide the undiscounted benefits figure?


MR. JOHNSON:  I would say that number sounds reasonable.  I guess it depends on how accurate you want it to be.


MR. ELSON:  That's good enough for me.


So the next figure we have is $162 million.  Those are the incremental costs.  And that includes both the portion paid by the customer towards the measures and the incentive payments that the customers receive from the utility.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  So it includes both those components, plus the administrative costs of the program.


MR. ELSON:  Great.  And the net benefits, the 372 some-odd-million dollars, that's just the net present value of the benefits minus the costs.  Fair?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.  Again, you quoted the number, but Mr. Fernandes, I think, provided an updated number, but it is close.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And the ratio, which is 3.29, roughly means that with one dollar invested in efficiency the savings are $3.29 in net present value format.  That's correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. FERNANDES:  And, Mr. Elson, that updated number is 3.24, but I don't think it will change your -- where you are going.


MR. ELSON:  It still sounds awesome to me, so...


[Laughter]


MR. ELSON:  The next piece I just would like to confirm with you by way of level setting is that your industrial programs are your most cost effective, and in those you have one dollar invested generating $13.17 in savings?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that looks correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so these are the savings at the bottom here just for the 2023 programs, not 2023-2027.  Right?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so if we were to multiply these savings by five, to start with the undiscounted benefits, that would be five times 700 million which would give you $3.4 billion in gross undiscounted benefits.  Is that fair to say, subject to check?


MR. JOHNSON:  Again, I will take your word for it on the 700 million, but that math seems reasonable.


MR. ELSON:  And in terms of the net benefits over five years, you would get $1.8 billion, subject to check.


MR. JOHNSON:  I presume you are just multiplying the 372 by five in that case?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I would like to turn now to the next page in our compendium, and this is a response to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 8 at page 4 of our compendium.


And the highlighted figure shows savings, gas savings in cubic metres just shy of 1.8 cubic metres arising from the planned 2023 programs.  Do you see that there?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah.  You said 1.8.  I assume you meant 1.8 billion?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Or 1.75 billion, yes.  I see that.


MR. ELSON:  I take it that free ridership has already been subtracted from these figures?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  They're indicated as net, so that's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And I take it there would also be corresponding carbon reductions for every cubic metre of gas that are saved?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that's correct.  I mean, there's a direct correlation there.


MR. ELSON:  And I calculate it as coming to 3.2 million tonnes of CO2.  But putting aside that specific figure for the moment, I think you would agree that these carbon reductions are achieved with overall bill savings because your programs are quite cost effective.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry.  You just lost me there for a second.  But those savings are achieved and the overall bills for the -- on the total for customers would go down not necessarily for each individual customer.  Is that what you are implying?


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay, yeah.


MR. ELSON:  In other words, the cost per tonne is not a cost per tonne overall.  It is a benefit per tonne.  Fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  I'm not familiar enough with how those things are derived.  But I would think in terms of a cost per tonne, you would look at the investment that was made and then the tonnes that were reduced.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let me bring you to a document that some folks on your panel may be familiar with, which is the concept of a marginal abatement cost curve.  We're at page 5 of the Environmental Defence compendium, and this is a report prepared for the Ontario Energy Board which is comparing the cost of various decarbonization options based on a dollars per tonne basis.


I take it that at least some members of this panel are familiar with the concept of a marginal abatement cost curve.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yeah, actually I was on the panel at the time for this as well, but it was many years ago.  But you are jogging my memory.


MR. ELSON:  And so this cost curve that was in this OEB report shows efficiency having net benefits of up to 140 dollars per tonne, give or take?


MR. JOHNSON:  Hard to see the numbers, but if those are the efficiency pieces, then that is what it shows.


MR. ELSON:  It is somewhere between negative 100 and negative 150 dollars per tonne, which is a savings per tonne.  Are you following?


MR. JOHNSON:  I see that, yes.


MR. ELSON:  And then for some of the other measures, you have a net cost and I believe the most expensive item is a net cost of $1,867 per tonne.  Do you see that there?


MR. JOHNSON:  I see those numbers.


MR. ELSON:  Could you please calculate the net benefits per tonne of the lifetime CO2 reductions arising from Enbridge's 2023 program?


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, is there a reason why you didn't ask us to do this in the interrogatories?


MR. ELSON:  Well, I actually thought I was going to find the information and I didn't.  So I am asking you for the information now by way of undertaking.


MR. JOHNSON:  So I just want to try to understand how much work this would be, because I think these curves can be a fair bit of work.  Are you looking for a single number?


MR. ELSON:  No, no.  I don't want you to do the whole curve, that would be an enormous amount of work.  I am looking for a single number where you would take your net benefits and you would calculate those as a cost per tonne of avoided gas.  You may have to back out some of the benefits in your net benefits that arise from carbon costs, but I don't think -- I am not talking about putting a whole curve together.  I am just looking for a single number.


The only purpose is to really show how cheap energy efficiency is when we're talking about reducing carbon emissions.  Is that a figure that you could come up with?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I think --


MR. ELSON:  Best efforts is fine.


MR. FERNANDES:  Are you looking for it on the same basis, because we're going to have to caveat --


MR. ELSON:  No, I'm not.


MR. FERNANDES:  -- quite extensively.


MR. ELSON:  No.  I am looking for Enbridge's best estimates with whatever caveats or assumptions that Mr. Johnson wishes to make -- and I believe Mr. Johnson is nodding and suggesting that that could be done on a best efforts basis.


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I think if you are looking for a single value of sort of the portfolio, Mr. Fernandes notes that I certainly can't say it will compare to this without doing a bunch of work to go back and recall how these were derived as I believe they're derived by others.  But if you are looking for us to come up with a single number for the portfolio, I think we can do that.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. FERNANDES:  Can we clarify, are you actually looking for the entirety of the portfolio?  Because there is some elements that aren't proposed to be measured in gas reductions and that is not their intended purpose, but they still have costs.


MR. ELSON:  Good point.  I think it would make the most sense to do it for your resource acquisition programs.  But I am happy to leave it in Mr. Johnson's hands to state the parameters in which the question is answered.  Because only your resource acquisition programs have targeted savings.


So I am happy to have an answer just with relation to those programs.


MR. JOHNSON:  My default is I will probably do it for the whole portfolio just because the math will be easier, rather than trying to parse out the portfolio costs.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.


MR. JOHNSON:  To resource acquisition versus others.


MR. ELSON:  I will leave that up to you and Mr. Fernandes.  I can see the benefit of focussing just on the ones that have savings and maybe you do both.  I don't know.  But I am happy to leave it where it is and get an undertaking and move on.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO CALCULATE THE NET BENEFITS PER TONNE OF THE LIFETIME CO2 REDUCTIONS ARISING FROM ENBRIDGE'S 2023 PROGRAM


MR. ELSON:  Thank you very much.  But I think you would agree with the statement that energy efficiency is generally the least expensive way to reduce carbon emissions from fossil based gas use?  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  I would agree that it tends to be a very cost-effective one.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Now I am going to try and get a bit of level setting on your plans and their savings levels and targets levels.


So I have turned back to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 8, which is at page 4 of our compendium.  This again is showing the DSM savings -- sorry the demand side management savings over a 10-year period.


And your gas savings in 2018 -- or from your 2018 plan were just over two billion cubic metres.  Is that correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct. 


MR. ELSON:  And your planned savings for the 2023 program is lower than that, at just under 1.75 billion cubic metres.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And by 2027, we're still a little bit lower than that 2018 level.  Is that correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that appears to be correct.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Elson, we should point out that those points in time are measured to different baselines.  So some of the opportunity in the earlier number that is higher has been effectively codified and is no longer available for the company on a go-forward basis.


MR. ELSON:  And that would have been because of changes in your furnace efficiency to 95 percent efficient?


MR. FERNANDES:  Among others.  There's been other changes in baselines to industry standard practices that would impact other sectors as well.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let me just ask you a question, and maybe I should focus on 2020 versus 2023.


So 2020 was the end of the last DSM plan.  Correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Originally, I think you would have to put.  So originally it was, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And in 2023 you are proposing less gas savings than you were in 2020?


MR. FERNANDES:  So I do have to check this table.  I am not as familiar with it, and I do believe it is the 2020 figure, Mr. Johnson, actuals?  Or budgeted?


MR. JOHNSON:  So it's a bit hard to see there, but if you look down there is a note, a footnote 2, 2020 are draft audit results.  But to my recollection it didn't change, or if they did they didn't change significantly.  So they would be that number or close to.


MR. FERNANDES:  Close to actuals.  But do you recall if it included any accessing of the 15 percent overspend allowance?  I wouldn't...


MR. JOHNSON:  I don't believe so for 2020, but I would have to take that subject to check if we want that confirmed.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.


MR. ELSON:  Now, Mr. Johnson, I believe you are looking at footnote 2, which is for the audited savings line, which is here.  And I am just comparing plan to plan because it is somewhat more straightforward.  And this --


MR. JOHNSON:  Oh, I see.


MR. ELSON:  -- line here are per net cumulative gas savings per plan.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, thank you.  Great point.


So what you are saying is you are comparing target to target versus I think what Mr. Fernandes was perhaps trying to get to but we went about it the wrong way, is if you look at the line below, that is the actual.


MR. ELSON:  Correct.  Correct.  So plan to plan your 2020 plan had more gas savings than your 2023 plan does.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.  But 2023 would have more than what we actually were able to achieve in 2020.


MR. ELSON:  And 2020 was the pandemic, right?


MR. JOHNSON:  That is certainly a factor, but, I mean, there's a number of other factors, some of which Mr. Fernandes just alluded to, in terms of baselines, certain measures, having challenges or adjustments, et cetera.


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


So I will turn now to the OEB letter from December 1st, 2020, and I think you would agree that this letter provided various guidance to Enbridge with respect to filing a natural gas demand-side management plan?


MR. FERNANDES:  It specifically provided direction to the company to file a plan and the parameters contained therein.


MR. ELSON:  And for example, it said that the plan has to be informed by the Achievable Potential Study, by the midterm review, by the outcome of the 2015 to 2020 plans.  Fair to say?


MR. FERNANDES:  Can you point me to that reference?  Because if it...


MR. ELSON:  It is on the screen now.


MR. FERNANDES:  So, yeah, the midterm review, 2019 APS, information received through the post-2020 DSM consultation to date, government's policies and commitments in the environmental plan as they continue to evolve, and the, what we referred to, the November 27th letter is the joint letter.


MR. ELSON:  And the primary objective is in assisting customers in making their homes and businesses more efficient in order to help better manage their energy bills.  Correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  And we've heard a lot about this phrase right here, which reads as follows: 

"The OEB anticipates modest budget increases to be proposed by Enbridge Gas in the near-term in order to increase natural gas savings."


Now, I have a question about how Enbridge has understood that.  With respect to modest increases, I assume the baseline is the 2020 level, which is the last year of the previous plan review.  Is that how Enbridge understood what the baseline would be when you are looking at whether the increases are modest?


MR. FERNANDES:  The baseline -- our interpretation is on the screen.  It says "modest budget increases".  There's a clear reference to the budget.  If you read the paragraph in its entirety -- and I think we went through this on the presentation day -- is the OEB specifically noted that budgets have doubled from the previous term.


They expressed interest or concern with COVID-19 and financial hardships, and then they said modest budget increases should be proposed.


It does say in the near-term in order to increase natural gas savings.  It does talk about weighing cost-effective natural gas savings to be achieved against both short-term and long-term customer bill impacts.


So it was about balancing the increases in the budget with those bill impacts from those budget increases, and I believe the way it was portrayed on presentation day is we stated the previous budget was set explicitly as a budget constraint.


So our interpretation was the OEB was asking us to gradually relax the budget constraint over time, which we put in an explicit formula with the intention that knowing we had a plan application that parties would have an opportunity to weigh in on that formula.


So our interpretation was inflation plus 3 percent policy growth.  And we did ask originally in our application to have that.  Knowing it would be probably the most contentious issue in this hearing, we asked for that one to be dealt with up front because, you know, substantial changes would potentially impact other elements of the plan.


MR. ELSON:  And Enbridge included a scaling for inflation in your budget.  So I take it you interpreted modest increases to be in real dollar terms, not in nominal dollar terms.  Is that fair to say?


MR. FERNANDES:  We had not had an inflationary increase in the previous framework, and knowing that it -- at the time it had -- we had already asked for an extension by a year in a rollover of the older framework.  We thought inflationary increases would be important.


But the -- on presentation day we did go through and say how we applied the formula to the various elements that would ultimately go into bill impacts.  So the growth was focused on the program budgets with inflation only for the overheads and something less than inflation for the shareholder incentive.


MR. ELSON:  So when you were -- I am just not quite sure.  When you had understood the Board's guidance, were you assuming the Board was saying there should be increases in real dollar terms or in nominal dollar terms?  Or were you just scratching your head and you weren't sure?


MR. FERNANDES:  We should probably go back a little bit further.


Ms. Adams, could you pull up -- let me give you the issue reference.  But it is CCC 4.  I just need to look up the issue number real quick.


It is issue 2, EGI.CCC.4.  And while that is coming up -- oh, Ms. Adams is really good.  If you can scroll down a little bit to the listing of the number of items on to the second page.


This question basically asked what work the company had done with the provincial government to try and get direction.  So we listed a number of meetings, and some of them are repetitive.  But as far back as July 24th, 2019, we were trying to meet with, you know, the MENDM and MECP 

-- I apologize for our panel members, but I believe it is the Ministry of Energy Northern Development and Mines and the Ministry of Environment Conservation and Parks, and they have been renamed back to the old Energy and Environment now.


We were meeting with them to try and interpret the environmental plan, and knowing that we were in a framework consultation I believe in the -- some of the stakeholdering that was done under the OEB-led stakeholder framework consultation with stakeholders, it was mentioned about interpreting what the government policy was.


And I just want to really say that we have been trying -- it is coming up to three years now - to get clarity over the intent of what government policy is, and if we opened say the attachment 3, Ms. Adams, if you would be able to quickly open that.


I don't want to take everyone through all of the presentations because we did them over quite a period of time, but they're all quite similar.


But if you go through -- Ms. Adams, if you can scroll through a little bit.  We basically went and spoke to them about the environmental plan, the DSM consultation process that was there and trying to clarify what the gradual increase meant.


And the gradual increase is the language from the Made In Ontario Environmental Plan which eventually came out in the DSM letter.  So that is more of an end point of when the company got its direction.


If you scroll down a few slides, so there's the reference to the environmental plan.  We had highlighted some text, we were looking for direction -- if you can keep scrolling down, Ms. Adams.


We were talking about the framework consultation and trying to make sure that we had continuity of programming for customers.


So we wanted to make sure that all interested parties or stakeholders would have clarity on that policy.


If you can scroll down, Ms. Adams.  These timelines are what we thought was reasonable at the time and has not turned out to be the case.  Keep going, Ms. Adams.


We mentioned the fact that there was -- we knew there would be a lot of interest from interested parties, and this is one of the largest stakeholders, is attracted into the DSM proceedings even relative to other things like a MAADs application.


If you can keep going, Ms. Adams.


And this is the one where the origin of what our plan actually came from, and we were really trying to clarify.  So we threw out two kind of options because we were trying to bookend it, and the previous guidance was expressed in the two dollar a month for residential rate impact and we said, okay, you know, let's keep this simple.  Like can you please give us some understanding of where this stands.


A five percent a year over 10 years would take you from two to three dollars a month.  And if you wanted to do it at 10 percent a year, it would take you from two to four.  The company wasn't trying to set policy.  It was trying to clarify policy.


So the origin of our plan after a multitude of these and hearing a DSM letter with "modest" was the five percent a year.


And what the company did is we disaggregated two percent inflation, and then said, well, we're not going to have the growth on our overhead or on the shareholder incentives.  So that is literally the origin of the formula that you see here today.


And again it was the intention, knowing this is important to our customers, we asked for this to be the first issue to be decided, because we weren't certain.


So, you know, gradual increases is relaxing the budget constraint.  Modest budget increases, we put a formula together specifically to say that we knew a large number of parties would be weighing in on this and that's -- that quantitative formula is the easiest way to gather feedback.


That was our intention.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.  I think the gist of that is that you weren't quite sure from the letter and you did a lot of work to try to figure out what the direction was, and I think that your focus was different from what my questions have been.


So let me ask you one other question and it may be that your thinking didn't go down this road.  But there is reference to modest increases in the near term.


What does "near term" mean to Enbridge?  To me, it means the first two or three years of a plan.  Not the entire year of the plan, otherwise you would refer to the entire plan.  But what did you understand by the term "near term", or what does Enbridge understand by that term?


MR. FERNANDES:  I can understand the interpretation that you gave it.  But given the history that we had and what is up on the slide now, another interpretation -- which I originally that's what I thought, but I admit some uncertainty, is in both the short and the long term, knowing that a formulaic approach could compound over time.


So understanding that if you keep adding on Increases, you know, a cup of coffee a day, you know, doesn't sound like much, but if you do it every month, it starts to add up if those are increases.


So that is how I think it could be interpreted, but I can't tell you that I know that is the correct interpretation.


MR. ELSON:  If I could take you now to page 13 of our compendium, which is ED 20, this table shows five years of DSM investments 2019-2023.


And the previous DSM framework again originally ran up to 2020.  So the first row in this table is showing the DSM budget in inflation-adjusted figures.  Do you see that there?


MR. FERNANDES:  I see the table, yes.


MR. ELSON:  And it shows that the proposed 2023 program budget is about $3 million less than the 2020 budget in real terms.


Have I understood that correctly?


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson -- I didn't directly put together the interrogatory response.  I believe that is correct, though -- although I kind of have to note, Mr. Elson, is that the DSM letter was pretty clear.  It spoke about, you know, budget increases and that was from existing budget levels.  They were referencing the 2015-2020 term which didn't have inflationary increases in the framework or plans.


So the 2020 reference point we had already had the rollover.  I am not sure how -- how that is relevant.


MR. ELSON:  And that was actually a question that I asked you a while back, but let's leave that for argument and I just wanted to be sure that I had understood this correctly.


I am going to turn now to the next page of this interrogatory response.  Again this is ED -- go ahead, Mr. Johnson.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, Mr. Elson.  If we can just go back to that quickly because I was pulling up another set of numbers, because I was a bit confused and I have to admit I don't recall this interrogatory.


But I believe this is just programs.  This is not the total budget.  Is that correct, given the magnitude of numbers I am looking at here?  The question isn't part of what you provided, so unless I pull up the question, but to your recollection, is that correct?


MR. ELSON:  It is programs as opposed to overhead.


MR. JOHNSON:  I think there is an important note that because the legacy utilities tracked costs differently, we had to align on certain costs.


So you will see a transfer of -- I am using the word transfer, it is probably not the right word -- a recategorization of some costs from programs to overhead given the alignment, in terms of aligning the two legacy utilities.


So while, if you look at the programs, the simple program totals, it could show as you're saying here that it came down, but part of it is simply a reclassification of certain costs.


MR. ELSON:  Now, Mr. Johnson, you reclassified costs between program overhead and portfolio overhead.  Correct?


MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so those would be reflected in the changes that you see here.  It is $16 million in program overhead, and then that drops to 11, and in terms of portfolio overhead, it goes from 3.8 million up to 11.  Those are the changes that you just described?


MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so that's separate.  That is why we pulled out the program dollars here, whereas in the first row we're looking at the program dollars and, they dropped from $105 million --


MR. JOHNSON:  Oh, I see.


MR. ELSON:  -- in real terms to $102 million in real terms.  Do you see that there?


MR. JOHNSON:  I do.  So I would have to go and double-check.  That is one example.  There were -- again, it was a challenge in that the two legacy utilities tracked things differently in a number of cases.  So that is one that is very material that you have just pulled out.  There are a couple of others.


Staff 13.F is -- we don't have to go to it.  We can if you'd like.  And actually, on the PDF it is not even helpful in terms of what I am trying to describe to you -- has a combination of the various historical costs.


There is a number of caveats that are attached to that, or a number of footnotes that are attached to that.  It actually didn't come in the PDF.  That is why I'm saying there is no point in going there, but provided in the Excel file, but there were a number of sort of dollars that moved between even things like evaluation and delivery costs, as an example, when we brought the two utilities together and amalgamated the budgets.


So I just want to caution you that if you pull two sets of numbers, we did the best that we could.  Staff 13.F is sort of our best attempt to align things, but there is a number of things that simply were done differently and cannot be aligned.


MR. ELSON:  And this does the best that you can in terms of looking at the program spending for 2019, and it shows from 2020 to 2023 it is dropping by roughly $3 million.  Is that fair to say?


MR. JOHNSON:  As I say, I don't think that is fair to say, because it would have been our best attempt to align things to how we set up the budget going forward, but there would be a number of things where dollars were tracked differently, and we were not able to move, you know, dollars or align dollars in every case.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to -- I think we should have clarity on this, and so I am going to ask an undertaking, but I am going to withhold that for the moment and come back to this.


So I will turn now to the next page of ED.25, and this is showing the resource acquisition funding, and again, resource acquisition are programs that have actual measured and targeted gas savings.  Right?


MR. FERNANDES:  The resource acquisition-type programming, yeah, is typically measured in gas reduction.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.


MR. FERNANDES:  Whereas the market -- what you have labelled as market transformation or what is labelled as market transformation on the table here typically would not.


MR. ELSON:  And this table is showing the inflation-adjusted increase for market transformation versus other programs, particularly resource acquisition from 2023 to 2027.  Do you see that there?


MR. FERNANDES:  We can see that, correct.


MR. ELSON:  And so over the five-year term, the market transformation dollars in inflation-adjusted terms increased by 117 percent?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's with this math, but we also noted in presentation day that the company has, under the market transformation categorization shown on this table, substantially revamped or brand-new programming, which it needed to ramp in the market.


So we intentionally started it with a much lower proportion and allocated the growth to those program areas in order to accomplish that ramp-up within the market.


And we also stated that we planned to reassess that after the midpoint.


MR. ELSON:  And I am just trying to do some basic level setting here, which is that Enbridge's plan is that the increase that is above inflation is entirely in the market transformation programs and it is a zero percent increase in the resource acquisition programs on inflation-adjusted terms.  That's fair to say, right?


MR. FERNANDES:  From a pure mathematical point of view, yes.  I think, you know, one of the items that's being alluded to is that the market transformation programs aren't -- they don't have metrics on their scorecards that result in gas reductions or they're not measured that way because the programs are trying to do other things.


But for example, the Building Beyond Code Program is intended to help Ontario advance its building codes to the next level, which will clearly result in reduced gas emissions and energy.  But we don't measure the program that way.


MR. ELSON:  And that market transformation program, that's the program with the gas heat pumps and the building-code program that requires customers to commit to use gas service.  Right?


MR. FERNANDES:  The Building Beyond Code program is targeted to our customers, correct.  And the other one that you said, the low-carbon transition program, is the one Mr. Grochmal was speaking about earlier today, where half of the rebate levels, I think he said, were going to electrification measures and the other half were going to advanced gas efficiency measures.


MR. ELSON:  And by electrification you mean hybrid heat pumps that are backed up by a gas furnace?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.  So the intention is to drive option of electric heat pumps as the primary heating fuel.


MR. ELSON:  So my understanding from a combination of these two tables is that in 2027 Enbridge will be investing less in resource acquisition programming that has measured gas savings in real dollars than it did back in 2019 or 2020.  Is that fair to say?


MR. FERNANDES:  So as we stated, the company does have plans to reassess those amounts at the midpoint, and it will depend on a number of factors.


We noted this morning that the midpoint is set to coincide when the IESO CDM framework ends, so we should have some additional knowledge about what programming the IESO does or does not have.


We stated that towards the end of the first half of the term we believe we'll have more and better understanding of where the province sits with adopting a next level of the step code, which would mean we would naturally have to evolve our new construction program offerings, just among other things that could evolve during that period of time.


So the company has committed that it would be filing an application and reassessing that portion of the overall budget envelope.


MR. ELSON:  Absent a course correction or a course change at the midpoint, in 2027 Enbridge would be investing less in programming with measured gas savings in real dollars than it did in 2019 or 2020.  Right?


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that again?


MR. ELSON:  I said, absent a course correction or a change in mix at the midpoint, by 2027 Enbridge would be investing less in programming with measured gas savings -- i.e., resource acquisition programming -- in real dollars than it did back in 2019 or 2020.  Right?


MR. FERNANDES:  I don't believe that's true.  We have a -- we have about 7 percent increase in the overall budget for 2023 over 2022, which is identical to '21 and 2020.  And the emphasis on resource acquisition is slightly higher.  So I don't believe that is true.


MR. ELSON:  Well, over 2023 to 2027 there is a zero percent adjusted increase, inflation adjusted increase, and if I go back to my previous table, 2023 in real terms is $3 million less than 2020.


MR. FERNANDES:  So --


MR.ELSON:  The starting point is $3 million less.


MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Elson, if we just take a look at 2022 and compare it to 2023 from our application, there is about a seven percent increase and the emphasis on resource acquisition is higher in 2023, if I remember correctly.


And that increase, even if you account for a two percent inflationary deflator-type of thing, would not -- would not say that is the case.  So I think Mr. Johnson pointed out there is some issues potentially with the math on this table.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let's do this.  Could you undertake to extend the table in ED 20, page 4, out to 2027 and include a line showing the non-market transformation budgets in real terms?  So for all of the lines, include real terms as well as the nominal amounts.


MR. FERNANDES:  Mr. Johnson, do you want to speak in the breakout room briefly?


MR. JOHNSON:  Sure.


MR. ELSON:  I am just trying to figure out a very simple fact, which is how much is this increasing or decreasing in real terms.


My understanding from your evidence so far it is decreasing in real terms.  And if it is increasing, is it like one percent, or more or less?  So we would appreciate a table that clarifies that and particularly one that is consistent with the information we have here, so that we can reconcile it.  Thank you.


MR. FERNANDES:  Okay.  We won't be long, Mr. Elson.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JOHNSON:  Hi, Mr. Elson.  Sorry.  We were just trying to figure out because again what Mr. Fernandes said there is true in terms of the increase.  So just trying to understand why there is a difference.


I think if I could suggest in terms of the undertaking -- actually a question for you first on the undertaking.  I think you said the total programs and market transformation programs, is that correct, that you would like -- resource acquisition and market transformation in real dollars.  That was your request?


MR. ELSON:  I think the easiest way to do it would be to take this table and for all of the rows also provide the figures in real dollars and extend it out to 2027.  I think that would provide more clarity and make sure we're not missing something.


MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Then I thought perhaps to address our conversation earlier, if we noticed there is anything as part of that to call out in terms of where dollars have moved between, say, programs and another area, we will add that clarification as well.


MR. ELSON:  Yes, please.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO EXTEND THE TABLE IN ED 20, PAGE 4, OUT TO 2027, AND INCLUDE A LINE SHOWING THE NON-MARKET TRANSFORMATION BUDGETS IN REAL TERMS, INCLUDING CLARIFICATIONS WHERE DOLLARS HAVE MOVED BETWEEN PROGRAMS


MR. MURRAY:  I also, given the time, just wanted to see about a time check because I think we're coming up to close to the end of the schedule for today.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Murray, I am happy to stop here or to continue tomorrow morning.  One thing I would just like to ask, when Enbridge is putting that table together, to ensure that it includes the program budget dollars approved in the mid term review, such as the Union adaptive thermostat program, because it is -- that is just one question mark as to whether that is included or excluded and I think it makes sense to include it because you're continuing that program.


I am happy to continue asking questions or to stop here.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, Mr. Elson, I think you are going to be going, by the time estimates, for quite a bit longer.  I don't want to make this hearing a forced march through the schedule, so I think it is -- we can adjourn for the day and come back tomorrow at 9:30.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m.
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